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          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Good morning.  I am

          3  Council Member Philip Reed, the Chair of the

          4  Consumer Affairs Committee.  I would like to begin

          5  by recognizing my colleagues, John Liu from Queens

          6  who is hear on my immediate left.  I know that some

          7  of my other colleagues are in a hearing next door

          8  and will be joining us, but for the sake of time we

          9  wanted to try and get started.  I know everybody has

         10  tight schedules, and we have some people that came

         11  specifically to testify about two different bills.

         12                 This morning our Committee will be

         13  conducting a hearing on two distinct matters.

         14  First, we will conduct our third Oversight Hearing

         15  on general vendors.  Some of you here today are

         16  aware that we have met twice before, on April 7th

         17  and on May 1st, to examine the licensing and

         18  regulatory obstacles facing general vendors

         19  throughout the City.  The Committee accepted

         20  testimony from many people of diverse viewpoints

         21  including; city agencies, vendors, many of whom have

         22  joined us again today, community groups, and members

         23  of the business community.  There is no question

         24  that this issue of vending has significant

         25  regulatory, economic, and quality of life
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          2  ramifications for communities throughout the cities.

          3                 On the one hand, my colleagues and I

          4  have received a great many complaints that the

          5  current licensing system simply does not work.  The

          6  Committee has heard about the difficulties related

          7  to vendor licensing and the complex rules that

          8  define the many different types of vendors.  We have

          9  also heard from vendors who have criticized the

         10  City's enforcement practices.

         11                 On the other hand, we have also heard

         12  from organizations and businesses who argue that

         13  vendors interfere with pedestrian traffic and

         14  storefront businesses.  Some of these groups feel

         15  that vendors create a safety hazard and are pressing

         16  for more vendor-free zones throughout the City.

         17  Incidentally, the call for more vendor-free zones

         18  and greater enforcement of vending laws has

         19  increased since the State law regulating disabled

         20  veteran vendors expired in March of this year.

         21                 There has been an explosion of

         22  vendors in some communities, and the City is trying

         23  to manage the challenges posed by this increasingly

         24  complex maze of laws and regulations, pertaining

         25  also to First Amendment Rights and street zoning.
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          2  However, I remain optimistic that through these

          3  hearings we will generate meaningful and appropriate

          4  solutions.

          5                 I would appreciate it if you could

          6  try to take your seats quietly.  Thank you.

          7                 To that end, we will devote the first

          8  part of today's hearing to the enforcement practices

          9  used by City agencies in its policing of vendors.

         10  We anticipate hearing from the Police Department on

         11  this issue and look forward to hearing concrete

         12  recommendations on how to improve enforcement.

         13                 The second part of our hearing will

         14  be dedicated to Intro. 467, a proposal to regulate

         15  Internet cafes.  This proposed law, which was

         16  introduced in May by Council Member John Liu, could

         17  not be more timely as the City works to address

         18  recent incidents of violence at Internet cafes.

         19  These cafes, which offer access to the Internet to

         20  the public, provide a valuable service for students

         21  and consumers. Unfortunately, some Internet cafes

         22  have been perceived to be a part of the City's

         23  truancy problem as some minors may spend their

         24  school hours using the high speed Internet access

         25  available at the cafes.
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          2                 As a result, Intro. 467 would make it

          3  unlawful for Internet cafes to allow access to

          4  minors during school hours.  This proposed bill,

          5  which addresses truancy directly, may also reduce

          6  the more troubling issue of violence involving some

          7  of the young people who patronize these cafes.

          8                 We expect to hear several witnesses

          9  on this issue including; school officials, community

         10  activists, advocates, and Internet cafe owners.  As

         11  you see we have an ambiguous, not ambiguous, but an

         12  ambitious agenda today.  The ambiguity, I think, is

         13  in the laws around the vendors.  But, we have an

         14  ambitious agenda today, and as a result, I want to

         15  limit the testimony from everybody to the exception

         16  of the Administration, to three minutes.  I would

         17  ask that you please condense your statements to

         18  allow as many witnesses as possible to testify.

         19                 Thank you all very much.

         20                 One of the things in the- we have

         21  been joined by Council Member Oliver Koppell from

         22  the Bronx and Jonathan Ettricks to my right is our

         23  Counsel to the Committee.

         24                 What we have been trying to do in the

         25  City Council around the issue of vendors is to come
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          2  up with workable solutions, to try to find a way out

          3  of this quagmire. I visited several locations

          4  yesterday, and realized that people are confused,

          5  and there are some people who are abusing the laws,

          6  and most of all, nobody seems to be happy with any

          7  of it.  Whether they are the vendors, whether they

          8  are the merchants, whether it is the Consumer

          9  Affairs Commission Agency, whoever it is, is saying

         10  that the system is not working.

         11                 So, what we have asked today, as we

         12  hear from the Police Department also, is that

         13  anybody testifying on this needs to offer us

         14  suggestions for how to improve the system. We have

         15  taken considerable testimony from vendors and from

         16  merchants about the problem.  So, I think everybody

         17  here understands the problem.  I would appreciate it

         18  if you would understand, we are not going to take

         19  testimony about the problem, we know the problem.

         20  If you want to testify today, you need to come and

         21  provide us with ideas on how to fix it. We do not

         22  need you to explain it to us.  Okay?

         23                 I would like to start our hearing

         24  today with testimony from the Administration, and I

         25  will allow them to introduce themselves.  We have
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          2  asked both the Consumer Affairs and the Police

          3  Department to take the witness stand together.

          4  Please, introduce yourselves.

          5                 MS. RYAN:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman

          6  and Members of the Council.  I am Inspector Kathy

          7  Ryan of the New York City Police Department, and I

          8  am joined here this morning with Lieutenant Robert

          9  D'Onofrio, Commanding Officer of the Manhattan South

         10  Peddler Task Force, and Lieutenant Daniel Albano of

         11  our Legal Bureau.  On behalf of Police Commissioner

         12  Raymond Kelly and our Chief of Department Joseph

         13  Esposito, we are pleased to be here to discuss the

         14  Police Department's enforcement of vending laws.  I

         15  would now like to ask Lieutenant D'Onofrio to

         16  present our opening statement.

         17                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Good morning.

         18  The New York City Police Department enforces state

         19  and local laws and rules regarding vending, with a

         20  focus on unlicensed vending, size, and placement

         21  restrictions.  Time and place restrictions vary

         22  street by street and hour by hour throughout the

         23  City.  In their enforcement efforts, officers apply

         24  these laws and rules, as well as comprehensive

         25  Police Department Patrol Guide procedures regarding
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          2  vending and handling of vending property. We should

          3  note that the laws and rules applicable to vendors

          4  are complex and are somewhat inconsistent between

          5  the state and local laws.

          6                 In general, local laws and rules

          7  require vendors to obtain licenses, and restrict the

          8  time, size, and placement of both food and general

          9  vendors on the City streets.  An exception is made

         10  for vendors who sell First Amendment, protected

         11  material such as books, magazines, and art works,

         12  who are entitled to vend without a license.

         13                 Vending licenses are issued by The

         14  Department of Consumer Affairs, the Health

         15  Department, and the Parks Department.  However,

         16  under the New York State General Business Law,

         17  disabled veterans have a special ability to get

         18  vending permits, and they operate under different

         19  rules.  The special law regulating disabled veteran

         20  lapsed on March 1st, 2003, although the City

         21  strongly lobbied for an extension.

         22                 Therefore, any disabled veteran may

         23  now vend anywhere in the City without any

         24  restrictions, provided their activities do not

         25  impede pedestrian traffic.  The unintended result of
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          2  this lapse of the General Business Law is that now

          3  the First Amendment vendors may join the disabled

          4  veterans on any street that would otherwise have

          5  been prohibited to them.

          6                 The lapse of the state law has

          7  increased the difficulty of policing an already

          8  complex enforcement problem for the City.  This is

          9  especially true in Midtown Manhattan, where the

         10  proliferation of unlicensed vendors leads to many

         11  quality- of- life problems associated with sidewalk

         12  congestion. These quality- of- life problems

         13  include; forcing pedestrians into the street,

         14  creating dangerous traffic conditions such as

         15  traffic snarls that impede the response of emergency

         16  vehicles to requests for help.  Moreover, there are

         17  criminal implications that are associated with

         18  sidewalk congestion, from three card monte games,

         19  where the offender is able to set up the table using

         20  nearby vendors as covers, to pick pocketing, chain

         21  snatching, and other crimes.

         22                 As you may be aware, one of the most

         23  pervasive problems associated with unlicensed

         24  vending is the sale of counterfeit goods.  Over half

         25  of the arrests made by members of my command are of
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          2  vendors who violated these trademark counterfeiting

          3  laws.  The Police Department addresses this problem

          4  in several ways including, nuisance abatement of the

          5  premises where the counterfeit items are made or

          6  stored. However, a vital element of the business of

          7  trademark counterfeiting is at the retail level, the

          8  vendor on the street.

          9                 In a city as densely populated as New

         10  York, it is important that our sidewalks and streets

         11  remain as free from obstruction as possible.  The

         12  Police Department, as an agency responsible for

         13  enforcement of the vending laws, will direct vendors

         14  to leave their location if they violate size and

         15  placement restrictions as outlined in the

         16  Administrative Code and the Rules of the City of New

         17  York.  In addition to observing the laws and rules

         18  specifically regulating vending, vendors must also

         19  refrain from violating other laws, such as Penal Law

         20  Section 240.20, Disorderly Conduct, if they block

         21  pedestrian traffic.  Vendors may also be asked to

         22  relocate due to exigent circumstances, such as a

         23  building collapse, fire, or crowd condition.

         24                 We believe it to be in everyone's

         25  best interest, communities, vendors, and police

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  officers, for vending laws and rules to be clear and

          3  consistent.  Vendors, as well as the general public,

          4  should be able to understand what the rules are, and

          5  the police officers must be able to address these

          6  conditions effectively.  To that end, we have been

          7  working with the Criminal Justice Coordinator and

          8  the Department of Consumer Affairs to craft a new

          9  mechanism for regulating vending in New York City,

         10  that includes both licensed vendors and First

         11  Amendment vendors, in a consistent regulatory plan.

         12                 Similarly, it is also extremely

         13  important to obtain State Legislation to reinstate

         14  the regulation of disabled veteran vendors, as well

         15  as amending the State Criminal Procedure Law to

         16  require fingerprinting for individuals arrested for

         17  the crime of unlicensed vending, so that police

         18  officers and courts are able to identify recidivist

         19  illegal vendors and take meaningful action against

         20  them.

         21                 Thank you for your attention to this

         22  issue, and we will be pleased to answer any

         23  questions you may have.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Is

         25  there anyone else from the Police Department that
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          2  wants to add anything? No.

          3                 Ms. Toole, you want to testify first?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I did

          5  just because we do not have much to add in

          6  substance, because--

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: -- the

          9  Commissioner previously testified on this issue

         10  before this Committee.  We did want to reiterate

         11  that we are still working with the State

         12  Legislature.  There seems to be some--

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Pauline, excuse

         14  me, would you let us know who you are for the

         15  record?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  For

         17  the record, my name is Pauline Toole, and I am an

         18  Assistant Commissioner for the Department of

         19  Consumer Affairs.

         20                 Commissioner Dykstra who could not be

         21  here today, previously testified on the complexity

         22  of coming up with a comprehensive plan for vending

         23  in New York City.  As the Police Department said,

         24  the State law that governed vending in the midtown

         25  core lapsed.  We still are working with the State
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          2  legislature and recently there seems to be some

          3  momentum on a bill that everyone can agree on.  Of

          4  course, it all is contingent on both Houses coming

          5  back into session before the end of the year in some

          6  timely manner.  The DCA and Criminal Justice

          7  Coordinators still are trying to come up with a

          8  comprehensive plan that balances public safety, the

          9  needs of the business community and New York's

         10  historic reliance on vendors.  So, that would be

         11  DCA's issue.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  For

         14  the Committee's sake, I did not tell you that in

         15  terms of working with the Administration we want to

         16  ask our questions about the vendors, and then we are

         17  going to hear their testimony about the internet

         18  cafes because of the time constraints that everybody

         19  has.

         20                 So, could you tell me, Lieutenant,

         21  what collaboration, if any, that you have with the

         22  Department of Consumer Affairs?

         23                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Yes, whenever

         24  I have a problem and a question, I call Consumer

         25  Affairs, especially if I am not sure of a certain
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          2  situation.  The majority of times they are

          3  excellent, and we usually work sometimes as far as,

          4  we will do some kind of enforcement effort in the

          5  precinct where there is a problem dealing with

          6  vending.  So, we will get together with Consumer

          7  Affairs, Health Department, and our Department, and

          8  we will go into a precinct where vending is maybe a

          9  problem that the community might be complaining

         10  about or there is some illegal activity.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  When you say that

         12  the community is complaining about, how is it that

         13  your Unit is aware of this?  Is this through

         14  COMSTAT?  Is this because of complaints filed with

         15  Department of Consumer Affairs?  How is it that you

         16  identify what areas to work in?

         17                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Through

         18  COMSTAT, and also myself, I attend numerous meetings

         19  with the community. The problems that come up, that

         20  was mentioned before, is the impediment of

         21  pedestrian traffic, and also the problem with

         22  sanitation as far as, food vendors leaving

         23  unfinished food left on the ground, paperwork,

         24  cardboard boxes, and it becomes a sanitary problem

         25  also, because it brings in rodents of that sort.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Now you have a

          3  unit that works on vending?

          4                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  That is

          5  correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What kind of

          7  training does this unit get?

          8                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  We get

          9  training from the Legal Department, which come out

         10  with finance messages and directives.  Also, we have

         11  training, we bring in Consumer Affairs, the Health

         12  Department, and also we bring in the corporations

         13  that represent the trademark counterfeiting problem

         14  out there like Loui Vatton or Oakley Glasses.  What

         15  I do is, I hold, at least once a month, a training

         16  in trademark counterfeiting.  I invite and send out

         17  paperwork to all the Commands to have their

         18  officers, their specialized units, condition or

         19  peddler, and they attend these meetings, and with

         20  the trademark counterfeiting, the corporations will

         21  train us on how to identify these products, and it

         22  is done on a monthly basis.  What we do, we have

         23  them come back every few months to make sure that if

         24  there is a new problem, we get trained on it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  How many officers
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          2  are there in this unit?

          3                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Total of 50.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And as it relates

          5  to the precincts, are you doing training with the

          6  individual precincts yourself or your unit?

          7                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  What I do is

          8  if- first of all, precincts have what they call

          9  training Sergeants and they have training

         10  themselves, but also it a precinct calls me and says

         11  they have a special condition, would I be able to

         12  train their personnel?  I invite them to my Command,

         13  or I go to their Command, or myself or a

         14  representative, and we actually train them in the

         15  basics of unlicensed general vending and food

         16  vending.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Is there a

         18  handbook or a book of regulations that the police

         19  are given to look over and study?

         20                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  There is the

         21  Patrol Guide, and in that section--

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  There is a what,

         23  Sir?

         24                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  There is a

         25  Patrol Guide, and in there is police procedures on

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  how to- in there will be the laws, and how to

          3  invoice property that is taken, and how to issue

          4  summonses.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  But, I guess what

          6  I am asking you is, is there written somewhere for

          7  the police, particularly in the precincts outside of

          8  Midtown Manhattan, to make them aware of how many

          9  feet people have to be away from the building line,

         10  and how far apart they have to be from each vendor,

         11  and whether or not somebody can have a helper?  Or

         12  what happens when someone has to go and relieve

         13  themselves? In all of the issues that I hear from

         14  vendors that seem to be problematic as it relates to

         15  their interaction with the police.

         16                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Like I said

         17  before, in the Patrol Guide--

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Could you pull the

         19  microphone just a little closer.

         20                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Oh, sorry, let

         21  me come in more.

         22                 There are procedures written in the

         23  Patrol Guide, and it is broken down how to actually,

         24  what the laws are, how to confiscate property, how

         25  to instruct the vendor, how to retain its property.
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          2  Also, there are memos that come out from a legal

          3  bureau, and if there is a change in the law, what

          4  they will do is send out a final (phonetic) message

          5  and this final message will actually have the actual

          6  change in the law.  And, then about a month or two

          7  later we will come out with a directive, and in that

          8  directive we will state the same exact thing that

          9  was in that final message.  This is distributed

         10  throughout the Department.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So, would you say

         12  that there is no confusion on the part of the police

         13  officers in the precinct as to the rules relating to

         14  vendors?  It ought to be perfectly clear.

         15                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  The only

         16  problem that we have with the Department, might

         17  have, is you have to actually know the street, if

         18  there is a problem with the street. Certain streets

         19  are restricted at certain times and dates, let's say

         20  you are on 45th Street, it might be restricted, I am

         21  just making this as an example, Monday thru Friday

         22  from 6:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. Then you go to 44th

         23  Street, it might not be restricted at all.  So, that

         24  is the only complex part there that we have

         25                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO:  Sorry, if I could
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          2  just drop in at this point, I am Lieutenant Albano.

          3  As to your question about the size and placement

          4  restrictions, feet from doorways, et cetera.  Every

          5  officer is given a memo book insert that they carry

          6  on their person that lists those restrictions.  As

          7  to the street restrictions, what streets are--

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  This is a book

          9  specific to vending and the restrictions, is that

         10  what you are saying?

         11                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO:  It is a card,

         12  actually, that is inserted--

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  A card.

         14                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO: -- that is

         15  attached to their memo book just like the parking

         16  regulations are, so they have that with them at all

         17  times on their person.  As far as the street

         18  restrictions, whether 45th Street is restricted and

         19  what hours of the day and night it is restricted,

         20  that is too voluminous for an officer to carry on

         21  his person.  It would be a number of pages, 20 or 30

         22  pages I think would be an accurate guess.  However,

         23  those restrictions are available.  We publish a

         24  directive every year from headquarters that lists

         25  all of those current street restrictions, and they
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          2  are available for an officer at his precinct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So, in other

          4  words, there could be some controversy, or

          5  confusion, or disagreement over what side of the

          6  street vendors are on, and whether or not, in fact,

          7  they are able to be there.

          8                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO:  And it is a

          9  fairly easy matter to check, Sir.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well how would a

         11  police officer check that out while he is on the

         12  street?

         13                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO:  He could call his

         14  desk officer.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Does that happen?

         16  Does that happen?

         17                 MS. RYAN:  Sir, can I interject on

         18  that?  I think, with my experience on patrol, the

         19  officers who are not aware of that particular area,

         20  they will not, in fact, do that enforcement.  Or if,

         21  in fact, it were something that there was such a

         22  problem, they would go back and call the peddler

         23  task force, and find out for sure what is the

         24  enforcement.  But, I think more so than not,

         25  Lieutenant D'Onofrio will confirm this, the officers
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          2  in the precincts who are not specialized in that do

          3  not, in fact, do that enforcement.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yeah, the concern

          5  that I have, really, is more about outside of the

          6  Midtown area.  The complaints that I get in my

          7  District, obviously, I do not represent Midtown, are

          8  about the arbitrariness of the police in terms of

          9  how they enforce the law, and often times vendors

         10  feel that they do not know the law.  That is the

         11  reason why I am asking these questions.  I have

         12  never heard a precinct commander say that he or she

         13  has been called to find out what streets are

         14  restricted.  So, we often times have vendors say

         15  that their goods are confiscated, they feel they are

         16  legally because they are vending legally.  But, they

         17  do not have any recourse other than to just take the

         18  violation and watch their goods disappear.

         19                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Once a year,

         20  before the holidays we have a large training

         21  session, the Department has, and they invite

         22  Consumer Affairs, Health Department, Corporations

         23  from different trademark people, and also my people.

         24    What they do is they send out memos, and they

         25  invite and have people from all different commands
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          2  come to this training, and they are trained in the

          3  different areas that you just asked about.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You have discussed

          5  the fact that if you find people that are vending

          6  illegally, meaning that they do not have permit,

          7  they do not have a license from Consumer Affairs,

          8  and/or they are not veterans, that you confiscate

          9  their goods.  Is that correct?

         10                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  That is

         11  correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What happens to

         13  the confiscated goods?

         14                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  It is

         15  vouchered, processed, and sent to our property

         16  clerk.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  It is vouchered

         18  and processed on site?

         19                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  We take it

         20  back to the precinct.  Let me explain how we work

         21  it.  What we do is, is we come upon an illegal

         22  vendor, he is unlicensed, we will either arrest him

         23  or give him a summons.  What we do is we take his

         24  property, and we put it in a large plastic bag, and

         25  we have what we call peddler seals, and we actually-
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          2  peddler seals- and we actually--

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I did not

          4  understand it, what is it?

          5                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Peddler seals.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Peddler seals,

          7  okay.

          8                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Yes, and we

          9  actually seal the bag in front of the vendor, and it

         10  remains sealed. Then we remove it to the precinct or

         11  my Command, and we invoice it there.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And though it is

         13  vouchered at the precinct, it is not vouchered, in

         14  other words, the vendor, who you are saying is

         15  illegal is not able to count and say there is x

         16  number of this or that.  It is all put in one bag,

         17  taken to the precinct with the vendor himself.

         18                 MS. RYAN:  With the seal on it.

         19                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  With the seal

         20  on it.  It is important.  Once that seal is on

         21  there, you cannot open it, and it cannot be tampered

         22  with.  So, if you do have to open it, say the bag

         23  rips, you have to take another bag, take another

         24  seal, and do it again, and record it.

         25                 Now when we issue a summons for a GO1
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          2  unlicensed general vendor, what we will do is, on

          3  the side of the summons or in the summons, we will

          4  write down the seal number, and that will go with

          5  the seal number that is on the plastic bag.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What is--

          7                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  One more

          8  thing, I am sorry.  It is important to note that

          9  every vendor has their own bag.  If there is two

         10  unlicensed vendors at the same location, one vendor

         11  will have his property put in one bag, and the other

         12  vendor will have it put into another bag.  They will

         13  have separate seals.  So, there is no mixing up of

         14  property.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And what happens

         16  to the carts, and the tables, and the furniture that

         17  these vendors have?

         18                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  For example,

         19  if it is an unlicensed cart, it is confiscated for--

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  The cart has to be

         21  licensed?

         22                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Yes, Sir.  It

         23  has to have a license.  Now if the--

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  The license for

         25  the cart is separate than the license for the
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          2  vendor?

          3                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  I am sorry,

          4  you are talking about a food cart or a general

          5  vendor?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am not talking

          7  about food vendors--

          8                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  I am sorry, I

          9  apologize.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- I am talking

         11  about the general vendors, who--

         12                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Okay, strictly

         13  on general vendors.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- use laundry

         15  carts to bring their materials out--

         16                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- that use trucks,

         18  and vans, and flatbeds trucks, and everything else I

         19  have seen, and then they set up a table, and they

         20  have a chair.

         21                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Under the law

         22  the subject of forfeiture, basically, that is what

         23  it is.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What does

         25  forfeiture mean? What is the difference between
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          2  confiscation and forfeiture?

          3                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Confiscation,

          4  he probably could get his property back, pay a fine.

          5    Forfeiture, he does not get his property back,

          6  unless the case is dismissed, then he is entitled to

          7  get it back.  But then he is referred to the City

          8  Law Office, and they take it from there, as far as

          9  whether he- they have a hearing, and they decide

         10  whether he gets the property back if it is for

         11  forfeiture.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, so, the

         13  furniture has to be vouchered otherwise we would not

         14  know where it is.

         15                 LIEUTENANT DONOFRIO:  Yes, that is

         16  correct. It is vouchered.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Right?

         18                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So, the goods, the

         20  merchandise is confiscated, but the furniture--

         21                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Everything is

         22  vouchered.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Everything is

         24  vouchered.

         25                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I see, okay.  What

          3  enforcement or what training does the Police

          4  Department get involved with with the vendors, if

          5  any?

          6                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  None.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And the Department

          8  of Consumer Affairs?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:

         10  Training with the vendors?  I do not think we do

         11  training with vendors, we just issue their license,

         12  but we do not train them.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  When you issue a

         14  license, do you give out a handbook, do you give out

         15  a sheet of paper that says these are the rules of

         16  vending?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  No,

         18  what we do is we give out the actual law, and we do

         19  not try to interpret the law for the vendors.  Part

         20  of what we give out shows the streets that are open

         21  and closed, and that weird assortment of days and

         22  hour.  It is up to the vendors to read that and

         23  determine that if the street is closed, they should

         24  not be vending there.  We give them the information.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I have now Chaired
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          2  this Committee for almost two years, and I have

          3  heard time and time again from your agency as well

          4  as other agencies that one of the things that you

          5  feel has been successful is in training people about

          6  the regulations that apply to their various

          7  industries.  So, why is it that the Department of

          8  Consumer Affairs and/or the police do not feel it

          9  necessary to offer any training to vendors?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Well,

         11  from the Department of Consumer Affairs view, I

         12  believe we think the law, in terms of vending in

         13  some respects, is clear.  You get a license, and if

         14  you are licensed you can vend, and hear is a list of

         15  streets on which you can vend and cannot vend.  So

         16  training people on the location of those streets

         17  would serve no purpose because they are sort of

         18  self- evident.

         19                 From the Department's perspective,

         20  the problem largely arises from the large number of

         21  unlicensed vendors, and I do not believe we really

         22  have a role in training unlicensed vendors.  The

         23  second problem arises because the patchwork of laws

         24  that applies to vending is complicated, not in

         25  actually doing the vending, but because where there
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          2  are disabled veteran vendors, there can be an

          3  unlimited number of First Amendment vendors, and

          4  then, you know, a lot of illegal vendors show up,

          5  and you end up with streets that are clogged with

          6  vendors.  That to us, is the problem, not training

          7  people where they can vend.

          8                 MS. RYAN:  And, Mr. Chairman, if I

          9  could say on behalf of the Police Department, when

         10  we do enforcement, that individual is advised as to

         11  the reason why they are either being arrested or

         12  being summoned, and if they are on the wrong street,

         13  and they are a licensed vendor, the officer would

         14  advise them of that fact.  Although, we cannot stand

         15  there and tell them every street, that would not be

         16  our role, however, they are advised as to what their

         17  violation is.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  The general

         19  vending license allows you to vend anything you

         20  want?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  If it

         22  is anything legal except food.  Food requires a food

         23  vending license, and if they have a cart, the cart

         24  license.

         25                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  Chairman, I
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          2  would like to say something.

          3                 Licensed vendors are not a big

          4  problem to us as much as the unlicensed vendors, I

          5  just wanted to get that across, and the First

          6  Amendment also.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So, you do not

          8  ever give out fines for being to close to the

          9  building, or not far away from the sidewalk, or to

         10  close to the other vendor?

         11                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  First of all,

         12  sometimes we instruct--

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Sometimes you--

         14                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO: -- sometimes we

         15  instruct people that they have to move, and then if

         16  we come back and they are still violating the law,

         17  we will give them a summons.  Like you said, if it

         18  is 20 feet from an entrance of a building, and they

         19  refuse to move, or they just come back and they did

         20  not move, we will give them a summons.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  For the sake of

         22  time, I want to try to close this up, but will you

         23  discuss a little bit further.  In your testimony you

         24  talked about fingerprinting vendors who you have to

         25  arrest or confiscate, or the fact that I think what
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          2  you are saying is we often hear the police say that

          3  they do not have the right to fingerprint.

          4                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  I will clarify

          5  it. Trademark counterfeiting is a misdemeanor.  That

          6  is an automatic fingerprint.  When you take a person

          7  in custody for unlicensed general vending, that is

          8  under the administrative code.  That is an

          9  unclassified misdemeanor.  When we do print them,

         10  all it is for is for informational purposes.  So,

         11  what will happen is you take a person that is

         12  unlicensed, general vendor, and for the first time,

         13  you lock them up.  He goes in front of a judge,

         14  there is no problem.  But, if you continue locking

         15  the same person up over and over again, if he is not

         16  fingerprinted, like you are when you commit a crime,

         17  the judge does not see that he is a recidivist, he

         18  does not have a lengthy sheet.  So, when he goes in

         19  front of that judge, it is like he is being arrested

         20  for the first time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So, you are saying

         22  you confiscate people that are vending illegally

         23  even if it is not merchandise that is illegal, you

         24  lock them up, they go in front of a judge, there is

         25  a hearing, but there has never been any
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          2  fingerprinting?

          3                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO:  Everyone that is

          4  arrested solely for the charge of unlicensed general

          5  vending, is fingerprinted, and what is called an

          6  inquiry card is done on that.  That is to see if

          7  they are wanted in another jurisdiction or this

          8  jurisdiction.  But, once that inquiry is made into

          9  the fingerprint system, database, that card is

         10  destroyed.  So, we have no record that this person

         11  has ever been arrested.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Why is that card

         13  destroyed?

         14                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO:  Because under the

         15  law we are not allowed to maintain a record of

         16  someone who is arrested for that particular offense,

         17  unlicensed general vending.  We are, however,

         18  allowed to maintain a record for the people who are

         19  arrested for the penal law misdemeanor of trademark

         20  counterfeiting.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I see that we have

         22  been joined by Council Member Barron from Brooklyn,

         23  good morning. Do any of my colleagues have questions

         24  about this?  Council Member Koppell.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I would like
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          2  to ask Ms. Toole, I am sorry the Commissioner is not

          3  here, the Commissioner, when she testified, gave out

          4  an onion, which she did to illustrate how complex

          5  the regulations are and confusing and to some

          6  degree, perhaps irrational, and we have been told on

          7  numerous occasions and again today that you are

          8  working on some rational scheme, both with the

          9  legislature and presumably with us.  Is that

         10  correct?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  With

         12  the legislature we are working on a revision of the

         13  law that governs vending in the Midtown core--

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  With the

         15  State Legislature.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE: -- with

         17  the State Legislature, and part of that would

         18  include, as the Police Department said, the desire

         19  to fingerprint people who are arrested for

         20  unlicensed general vending and retain the records.

         21                 We have been discussing with a

         22  variety of your colleagues at different times and

         23  places, issues that they have with vending in their

         24  communities, and we have continued to meet

         25  internally in the City, principally with the
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          2  Criminal Justice Coordinator to try and think

          3  through a rational approach that would work for all

          4  interested parties.  Despite a lot of time, and

          5  energy, and thought, the issue is still very

          6  complicated, and we have not arrived at a system

          7  that would be simple to administer and that sort of,

          8  is fairly balanced.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  And do you

         10  have any deadline that you have established.  My

         11  experience has been that unless you have a deadline

         12  where you have a complex problem, it is easier to

         13  discuss it then to resolve it.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I

         15  think that your experience is fair, and that is a

         16  fair comment.  All I can say is that Commissioner

         17  Dykstra, Mayor Bloomberg, and the Criminal Justice

         18  Coordinator are very results oriented, and their

         19  goal is not to have an endless discussion, but to

         20  come up with something that works.  We are not

         21  interested in spending our time for no purpose.  So,

         22  we do not have a deadline, but you know, believe me

         23  if the eureka moment arrives and we have a solution,

         24  you will hear about it very quickly.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Mr.
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          2  Chairman, if I may, we have been hearing for some

          3  time, as you know, about the City coming up with a

          4  proposal.  I would a request a view that we inform

          5  the City, because I am certainly prepared to allow

          6  the experts first crack, but I think we should

          7  inform the City that if they do not come up with a

          8  proposal by a certain date, and I leave it to you

          9  and your staff to determine what that date should

         10  be, that we will come up with a proposal, because

         11  all I hear is complaints that the system is

         12  irrational, it does not make sense, it needs change,

         13  it needs overhaul, but we are sort of floundering

         14  around without knowing what to do.

         15                 So, I would urge that this Committee

         16  indicate to the City that by a certain date, and I

         17  think that date should be something like the first

         18  of the year, if we do not have a specific proposal

         19  from the City, the Committee will put forward its

         20  proposal on how these vending laws ought to be

         21  changed, assuming we want to change them.  I think

         22  that there are some discrepancies.  I think we ought

         23  to look at the laws comprehensively and see where we

         24  might like to make changes. But that would be my

         25  proposal to you, Mr. Chairman, for the Committee,
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          2  because we have been talking about this for a long

          3  time, and it is obvious from the number of people in

          4  the audience that there are people here who have

          5  concerns.  I think it is time for us to proceed.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, I appreciate

          7  that, Council member.  That is really the reason for

          8  this last hearing, at least on this issue, is that

          9  so this Chair and this Committee, in fact, can make

         10  some recommendations to the Speaker and certainly we

         11  would look to, if nothing else, look at the areas

         12  where we have jurisdiction, but also to propose a

         13  resolution for the State Legislature in terms of

         14  what it is that we would recommend to do because I

         15  think while the State Legislature passes the laws

         16  effective the State, I am not sure that this problem

         17  is as pronounced in any other part of the State

         18  other than New York.  So, your suggestion is exactly

         19  the reason why we are having this hearing today, so

         20  we can put together our proposals and suggestions.

         21                 Council Member Barron.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

         23  very much, Mr. Chair.  I just wanted to say that I

         24  am very concerned about this issue, and I am glad we

         25  are having a hearing on solutions.  I think that is
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          2  very, very critical.  We heard a lot about the

          3  problem, it is obvious that what is going on needs

          4  to be fixed and corrected.

          5                 One of the main problems, it seems,

          6  is licensing.  I wanted to ask any of you or all of

          7  you, why don't we just give out more licenses.  I

          8  mean especially it seems to me that--

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Just a minute,

         10  Council member.  You need to restrain yourself.  I

         11  understand that you are here in support of something

         12  because it is your livelihood, but we really do not

         13  want that sort of behavior or applause because we

         14  are trying to move through some things. Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: -- it seems to

         16  me that that would generate more revenue for the

         17  City.  It would eliminate all of the harassment that

         18  is occurring with vendors who are just trying to

         19  make a decent living, and as a matter of fact, if

         20  the City created more jobs, maybe they would not

         21  have to go into the vending business.  There would

         22  be full employment and living wages for everybody.

         23  But, since that is not the case, why wouldn't we

         24  just license more.  There are so many kinds of

         25  people that need licenses and especially veterans,
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          2  who, you know, fought for this Country and to come

          3  back, cannot find jobs, and then they do some

          4  vending, and then they get harassed by police and

          5  taken off of the streets because they do not have a

          6  license or even if they have a license, sometimes

          7  they get harassed for selling certain things that

          8  police say that they should not sell, and the police

          9  are not even aware of what they should and should

         10  not sell.

         11                 So, we have a mess here, and I think

         12  more licensing and more knowledge on what can be

         13  sold and cannot be sold would be more beneficial.  I

         14  just wanted to get you thinking on that.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  The

         16  Police Department is letting me graciously answer

         17  this.  The limit on the number of general vendor

         18  licenses is set in local law. So, obviously, that

         19  could be changed if a local law were passed.

         20  Arriving at what number is appropriate, will require

         21  whoever drafts that law to balance the needs of

         22  communities that exists, including existing business

         23  communities and strips that are active, pedestrian

         24  issues, and public safety issues, and the needs of a

         25  vending community.
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          2                 While the number of licensed general

          3  vendors is capped, there can be an unlimited number

          4  of veteran vendors, who also have to be licensed,

          5  and then there are First Amendment vendors who do

          6  not need to be licensed and there are, you know,

          7  thousands, it is hard to know what to set the number

          8  at so you can balance all of those vendor

          9  communities plus the other communities.  But, it, no

         10  doubt, is doable, and we would not oppose that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Right, well

         12  that is what I wanted to get feedback on, because

         13  they do not cap other businesses.  I mean, they do

         14  not have a problem with businesses that are not

         15  vendors.  There is no cap on what kind of business a

         16  person can open up, and even though the veterans can

         17  have any amount of license, they are still being

         18  harassed on things that they can sell and cannot

         19  sell.  So, what could some of the solutions be on

         20  that, when those who do have a license and are still

         21  being arrested for selling certain things that the

         22  police say they cannot sell or summonsed and

         23  harassed and property taken?

         24                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO:  Because someone

         25  has a license does not entitle them to sell items
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          2  that are trademark counterfeit.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Right, well

          4  that is what I am saying.  The Police Department

          5  would have to be very much aware of what can and

          6  cannot be sold and then sometimes, you know, they

          7  just come out in the streets, we have heard

          8  testimony, and I have heard people say, you cannot

          9  sell those umbrellas, get out of here.  The officer

         10  does not even know if they can or cannot sell the

         11  umbrella.

         12                 So, it is happening haphazardly, it

         13  is not happening with knowledge on what could be

         14  sold and could not be sold.  It seems that they just

         15  have this thing against vendors, and they are

         16  harassing them more than others in society.  I can

         17  think of some people you need to harass other than

         18  these folk here, but I think that we need to really

         19  look at knowing what items- are police officers

         20  clear on what can and cannot be sold?

         21                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO:  We do a lot of

         22  training from the corporations of trademark holders

         23  like Vatton and Oakley sunglasses for example, those

         24  different companies.  We do a lot of training with

         25  those companies and update, frequently update the
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          2  trainings so the officers are familiar with

          3  identifying products that are trademark counterfeit.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I think the

          5  question that we are trying to go on this is back a

          6  few minutes ago I asked you, if you have a general

          7  vending license you are allowed to sell anything

          8  other than violations of trademark, merchandise is

          9  not a violation of a trademark, is that right?

         10                 LIEUTENANT D'ONOFRIO:  That is

         11  correct.

         12                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO:  Or any

         13  consumable, you cannot sell something to eat.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We cannot hear

         15  you.

         16                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO:  I am sorry.  You

         17  cannot sell a consumable item if you only have a

         18  general vendors license.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And you feel that

         20  all of the police are aware of this?  That in other

         21  words, if they walk up to somebody, and this person

         22  has a legitimate vendor's license sort of

         23  multi-cultured rainbow looking thing has a license,

         24  no matter what they have on the table other than if

         25  it is a violation of trademark, they are allowed to
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          2  sell it?

          3                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO:  The issue may not

          4  be just what they are selling, it is where they are

          5  placed upon the sidewalk.  There are some complex

          6  extensive rules on where they are allowed to be on

          7  the sidewalk.  So, that may be part of the issue

          8  too.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 LIEUTENANT ALBANO: You're welcome,

         12  sir.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Any other questions

         14  on that subject, on the subject of vendors, no?

         15                 Okay, do not leave the table.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 As I have said before, I know this is

         18  a bit confusing, but because of the timing on

         19  several things we wanted to have a hearing on both

         20  the subject of vending, to hear from the police,

         21  which we have actually been waiting since the spring

         22  to be able to get them to come, and the subject of

         23  internet cafes.  We are going to return to the

         24  subject of vending after we hear from the

         25  Administration and the police about the Internet
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          2  cafes.  Okay?

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 Ms. Toole, are you speaking on behalf

          5  of the Administration, as it relates to Internet

          6  cafes?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes,

          8  Mr. Chair, I am.  We are just figuring out which one

          9  of us is going first.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  One

         12  moment's indulgence.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Okay,

         15  if you are ready, I am ready.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Proceed.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Good

         18  morning, Chairman Reed and Members of the Consumer

         19  Affairs Committee. My name is Pauline Toole, and I

         20  am the Assistant Commissioner for the Department of

         21  Consumer Affairs.  Once again, Commissioner Dykstra

         22  asked me to apologize for her absence this morning,

         23  and we want to thank you for this opportunity to

         24  comment on Intro. 467 that would prohibit Internet

         25  cafe operators from allowing minors to enter such
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          2  premises during public school hours.  The bill would

          3  also impose penalties of not less than $150 or more

          4  than $300 for each violation.

          5                 The laudatory purpose of this

          6  legislation clearly is to prevent Internet cafes

          7  from being magnets for truants.  It is, however,

          8  less clear that the requirements included in the

          9  bill can or will effectively achieve that purpose.

         10                 First, DCA has no data that indicates

         11  that Internet cafes are strong magnets drawing

         12  students away from schools, public or private.  It

         13  is, therefore, difficult to know whether a ban would

         14  actually have an appreciable impact on truancy from

         15  public schools.

         16                 Second, it is not clear that

         17  successfully locking the doors to Internet cafes for

         18  minors during school hours would have any impact on

         19  truancy from schools.  While students may find it

         20  more interesting to be in Internet cafes than in

         21  schools, shutting doors may simply force the kids to

         22  go somewhere else.

         23                 Third, if Internet cafes were strong

         24  magnets drawing students away from public schools,

         25  truancy officers could use them as baits to enhance
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          2  the effectiveness of their truancy enforcement

          3  program.  It may, then, be counterproductive to

          4  enlist the help of Internet cafe operators as part

          5  of the effort to fight truancy by locking their

          6  doors to Internet cafes if doing so only drives the

          7  students to places where they are more difficult to

          8  locate and identify.

          9                 Fourth, the exceptions allowing

         10  certain categories of minors to be in Internet cafes

         11  imposes an insurmountable burden on operators to

         12  identify who they must bar from their cafes.  These

         13  exceptions include high school graduates, persons

         14  who have completed a GED, people who otherwise have

         15  permission to be out of school, people who are

         16  accompanied by parents or guardians.

         17                 Fifth, the bill offers no guidance on

         18  what would be deemed adequate identification on

         19  which an operator can rely to determine whether a

         20  prospective patron is to be legally barred.

         21                 Lastly, the Department is not granted

         22  hearing authority to adjudicate violations.  It

         23  would, therefore, be required to take violations of

         24  this law to court, state court, to recover fines of

         25  only up to $300 per violation.  This would require
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          2  the Department to use a prohibitively expensive

          3  process to enforce the requirements in this bill.

          4                 The Department has, however, been

          5  contemplating an alternative approach to reaching

          6  Internet cafes.  In passing, I would like to note

          7  that Intro. 568 in the Council has a licensing

          8  scheme.  I know we are not taking that up today, but

          9  when you do we would have comments on that.

         10                 That alternative approach would be to

         11  treat the computers used for gaining access to the

         12  Internet as an amusement device, and any

         13  establishment that has five or more of them as an

         14  amusement arcade, which DCA does license.

         15                 This approach could be implemented by

         16  redefining what constitutes an amusement device

         17  under Subchapter Three of Title 20 that regulates

         18  amusement devices and arcades.  That law also

         19  provides that any establishment with five or more

         20  such devices is an arcade that is required to be

         21  licensed by the Department.  In passing, we are not

         22  sure that five is the magic number, it could be

         23  seven, it could be eight, and that would be

         24  something worthy of discussion.  The law further

         25  provides that such arcades cannot be located closer
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          2  than 200 feet to a public or private school, and

          3  authorizes the Commissioner to prescribe conditions

          4  for the operation of such amusement arcades in order

          5  to minimize adverse effects on the surrounding area

          6  including, but not limited to, prescribing hours of

          7  operation and requirements for security and

          8  supervision.

          9                 The existing law, therefore, already

         10  has in place the requirements and procedures needed

         11  to address the safety, security, operations, and

         12  placement issues that Internet cafes raise with

         13  respect to their use by minors.

         14                 We have not yet spoken, as an agency,

         15  with Internet cafe operators, and we believe we

         16  should to fully understand their industry, but the

         17  Department would certainly be prepared to cooperate

         18  with the Committee to work out legislation that

         19  would achieve these objectives.

         20                 Thank you again for the opportunity

         21  to comment.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  I know

         23  that Council Member Liu is the author of this bill

         24  that we are taking up today.  There was an amended

         25  notice that the Council will also be looking at 568.
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          2    So, your testimony about that is timely, but I

          3  know that Council Member Liu has some questions

          4  about his bill and the issues of Internet cafes in

          5  general. Council member.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman, I appreciate your taking of this very

          8  important issue in this Committee.  The fact is that

          9  Internet cafes have proliferated throughout the City

         10  of New York in recent years, and they have,

         11  generally, done service for the community by

         12  providing Internet access to many people who would

         13  not otherwise have the access to the information

         14  superhighway that they can access through these

         15  Internet cafes.

         16                 There are, unfortunately, some

         17  ancillary problems that have arisen from the

         18  operation of these Internet cafes, and from talking

         19  with people locally in the community that I

         20  represent as well as people in other parts of the

         21  City, truancy has clearly become a problem that has

         22  been, in my opinion, induced by some of these

         23  Internet cafes, particularly as the video games that

         24  are computer and Internet based have become the

         25  primary activity in many of these Internet cafes.
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          2  The games are becoming more and more sophisticated,

          3  and if you can believe it, addictive in nature,

          4  where kids are now spending, not only three, four

          5  hours, but eight to ten, twelve hours at a time

          6  gaming with their partners either in the same cafe

          7  or over the Internet.  So, we do have a number of

          8  witnesses here today representing parents as well as

          9  school administrators who will attest to the

         10  existence of this problem.

         11                 I think that this is a bill that is

         12  not meant, in any way, to penalize the operators or

         13  owners of Internet cafes, it is simply a common

         14  sense measure that will help us as we improve our

         15  schools and reform public education.  It will help

         16  us keep our kids in schools, and that is the intent

         17  of this bill.

         18                 I do have a number of questions about

         19  your testimony, Commissioner Toole, but I wanted to

         20  state very clearly that there is a problem that we

         21  must address, and while the bill, which I think is

         22  sufficiently comprehensive, may not have all of the

         23  details that you rightly point out in your

         24  testimony, I think that those are details that we

         25  can work out, hopefully, between this Committee, Mr.
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          2  Chair, and the Department of Consumer Affairs, the

          3  Police Department, and also the operators of

          4  Internet cafes.

          5                 The genesis of this bill actually

          6  came from discussions I had with one of my

          7  principals who leads a school, a middle school, not

          8  even a high school, a middle school with 12, 13, and

          9  14- year old kids that were found cutting school at

         10  length and found in Internet cafes.  The problem was

         11  also independently brought to my attention by the

         12  commanding officer of my local Precinct, the 111.

         13  He had stated that there needs to be some parody

         14  that makes Internet cafes comparable to video game

         15  arcades, bowling alleys, pool halls, because right

         16  now, unless they have a truancy officer in every

         17  single Internet cafe at all hours, that is simply

         18  impossible for them to cover the truancy that

         19  exists, that is attributable to Internet cafes.  So,

         20  that is the intent of this bill, and that is the

         21  genesis of how this bill was created.

         22                 Let me ask you, Commissioner Toole,

         23  you had stated that DCA has no data, and I think

         24  that is understandable because this is a relatively

         25  recent phenomenon, this is not a problem that has
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          2  existed for many, many years, it has become more of

          3  a problem in recent years.   So, my question to you

          4  is, has there been any effort to collect data?

          5                 MS. RYAN:  Mr. Chairman, again I am

          6  Inspector Ryan with the New York City Police

          7  Department--

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Councilman Reed

          9  is the Chairman.

         10                 MS. RYAN:  I am sorry, I forget your

         11  name, Sir.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  John Liu.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

         14  Liu.

         15                 MS. RYAN:  Council member, again I am

         16  Inspector Ryan, and I am answering on behalf of the

         17  New York City Police Department.  When we were

         18  advised that this would also be an issue that would

         19  be discussed here today, we did reach out and spoke

         20  with school safety and the Chief who is involved

         21  with that, and requested any information to do with

         22  Internet cafes and truancy.  At this time they are

         23  reporting that there is no apparent correlation with

         24  the Internet cafes and the truancy numbers.  So we

         25  are not seeing an increase with regards to that,
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          2  however, it is something that is new, and we will

          3  continue to be looking at that.

          4                 In addition, there was a question

          5  that was brought up to us, again, as far as finding

          6  data as maybe violent crimes occurring at Internet

          7  cafes, and at this time, the New York City Police

          8  Department has no incidence of showing that the

          9  Internet cafes have any violent crimes inside or

         10  directly right outside affiliated with the cafe.

         11  There was one exception, I think in Brooklyn, where

         12  a violent incident had occurred, but again, there is

         13  no apparent nexus to the fact that it was an

         14  Internet cafe.

         15                 As far as any other data specifically

         16  saying Internet cafe as a location, this is not data

         17  that is captured, and the only other thing that we

         18  can have, again, in talking with commanding officers

         19  of the precincts throughout the City, and in

         20  particular, I think the largest Internet cafe we

         21  have is in Times Square area.  The only incidence of

         22  crime that we show an increase would be grand

         23  larcenies, which kind of makes sense, where somebody

         24  puts there bag down, and they are not paying

         25  attention.  So, this is, obviously, a crime that we
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          2  continue to enforce, but that is the only

          3  correlation that we see with the Internet cafes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I appreciate

          5  your testimony.  When you say that, first, there has

          6  not been a Department study conducted on this, is

          7  that correct or not correct?

          8                 MS. RYAN:  Well, the Department would

          9  not go and do a study unless we show that we have

         10  something that is indicating a reason to go into

         11  that area. Right now we have absolutely nothing that

         12  is showing any kind of prevalent increase of any

         13  crime affiliated with the Internet cafes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I think we can

         15  first focus on the truancy aspect rather than the

         16  violence. Unfortunately, there have been a number of

         17  incidents, violent incidents, in just recent weeks,

         18  but going beyond that, if we focus on the truancy

         19  aspect, how would you determine that there is a

         20  correlation?  What is the procedure that you go

         21  through, would it be from truancy officers that you

         22  gather data?

         23                 MS. RYAN:  Sir, I would have to get

         24  back to you on that.  I do not work in school

         25  safety, and just like I said, we had been advised,
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          2  we were originally coming here for the vendor, and

          3  we were advised that we also would be testifying

          4  possibly on the Internet cafe.  So we reached out to

          5  school safety to find out do they, in fact, have an

          6  increase or knowledge of a truancy problem in the

          7  Internet cafes, and the answer that was given to us

          8  was no, at this time.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I appreciate

         10  that, and all I am trying to do is clarify your

         11  statement.  Your statement indicates that the Police

         12  Department--

         13                 MS. RYAN:  I am sorry.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: -- your

         15  statement, correct me if I am wrong, please.  Your

         16  statement indicates that the Police Department does

         17  not believe there to be a correlation between

         18  Internet cafes and truancy.  From your subsequent

         19  remarks, I am gathering that perhaps what was meant

         20  was that at this time there is no data that provides

         21  a correlation between Internet cafes and truancy.

         22                 MS. RYAN:  You can say that, and we

         23  are aware of the Internet cafes, and now I am just

         24  being advised that again, school safety is aware of

         25  it and is something that they will continue to
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          2  monitor and look at--

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Got it.

          4                 MS. RYAN: -- and at this time we do

          5  not have numbers that are indicating that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  So, I do want to

          7  clarify it one more time.  The statement is that

          8  there is not yet data that provides the correlation.

          9    The statement is not that there is no correlation.

         10                 MS. RYAN:  If you would like to say

         11  it, hold on one second, I would like--

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I think there is

         13  a very important distinction here.

         14                 MS. RYAN:  Excuse me one second.

         15                 At this time I am advised that we do

         16  not have any anecdotal evidence to the fact that the

         17  Internet cafes are showing an increase.  We are

         18  aware of their--

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Increase in

         20  what?

         21                 MS. RYAN:  In truancy.  We will look

         22  at the matter and if it indicates that the data

         23  should be--

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am sorry, now I

         25  am confused.  Your most recent testimony just now is

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  that there is an increase in truancy?

          3                 MS. RYAN:  No, I have been informed

          4  from the--

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So, there is no

          6  data about the truancy.

          7                 MS. RYAN:  Right, there is no data

          8  indicating any increase.  You can go--

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We are not making

         10  a statement that there is or isn't an increase or

         11  decrease, we just do not have the data.

         12                 MS. RYAN:  At this time there is no

         13  data indicating an increase.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.  Well, if I

         15  may, Council member, we would request that of the

         16  Police Department, and we will be writing you a

         17  letter to see if we can get statistically that

         18  relationship.

         19                 MS. RYAN:  We will get back to you on

         20  that, yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I do have a

         23  piece of constructive, hopefully constructive

         24  feedback, which is in addition to talking with the

         25  school safety officers, and I commend them for their
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          2  very difficult task that they have, I would also ask

          3  that you poll for anecdotal evidence as well as for

          4  empirical statistical evidence, evidence that could

          5  correlate truancy with Internet cafes, or refute any

          6  correlation between truancy and Internet cafes, and

          7  to get that not only from the school safety

          8  officers, but the Commanders of the local precinct,

          9  because I can tell you, anecdotally, that the

         10  officers and the commanding officers of my two local

         11  precincts have had many stories of truancy, rising

         12  truancy related to Internet cafes, related to kids

         13  being found in Internet cafes during school hours.

         14                 I refrained from bringing

         15  investigative reports on video that have been

         16  conducted by the major news networks, but they all

         17  found kids in Internet cafes during school hours,

         18  and saying that, yes, they understood that they were

         19  cutting school, but who is going to catch them, or

         20  who is going to do anything about it.  That is

         21  exactly what we are trying to do here.  We are

         22  trying to do something about it to keep our kids in

         23  school.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.
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          2                 Commissioner Toole, I am curious, in

          3  your recommendations, and we were talking about the

          4  other bill, Council Member Gioia's Bill 568, you are

          5  suggesting that we might want to license Internet

          6  cafes similarly to arcades, right?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And, other than

          9  what I see in your testimony about, maybe I am just

         10  wrong, I am willing to be wrong, that would prohibit

         11  these arcades that are about 200 feet, I think you

         12  said, from schools, but other than that prohibition,

         13  how would that help with the issue of kids being

         14  truant from school?  Is there a prohibition from

         15  kids being in an arcade during certain hours?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  No,

         17  Mr. Chair. In fact, the Department of Consumer

         18  Affairs view is that to focus on truancy enforcement

         19  is the wrong approach.  That the correct approach in

         20  this legislation, the correct approach is to license

         21  certain kinds of cafes that you can call Internet

         22  cafes using a scheme that is similar to that that is

         23  now used to licensed amusement arcades.  It is

         24  noteworthy that when Council Member Liu was talking

         25  about the sorts of businesses, that, you know,
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          2  sometimes create problems, he did mention amusement

          3  arcades and billiard halls, both of which require a

          4  license.

          5                 We think the approach is to set forth

          6  a process to ensure that Internet cafes have a

          7  license so you can enforce, then, the existing laws

          8  that govern truancy, that govern all of the penal

          9  laws that the Police Department enforces, and we

         10  could then if an Internet cafe was a bad actor, pull

         11  their license and prohibit them from operating. That

         12  seems to us to be something that actually achieves

         13  the goal without focusing on the truancy piece,

         14  because DCA is never going to be able to focus on

         15  who is a truant in the cafe.

         16                 The school safety officers have a

         17  very difficult job, they would be better prepared to

         18  do that.  We think that might be a problem that

         19  exists, but this is the wrong vehicle for addressing

         20  it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes, well, I am

         22  not familiar enough with the truancy laws, so I

         23  think I am understanding what you are saying.  How

         24  does the truancy law impact a licensed arcade?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  If an
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          2  arcade was the sight of continued problems, it would

          3  potentially go to the fitness of the arcade

          4  operator, and the Department could rescind the

          5  license.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  All right, so,

          7  habitual truants are hanging out at the Liu & Reed

          8  Billiard Hall, see at my age when we were truant we

          9  were playing pool, but I do not know what Council

         10  Member Liu was doing, but that was I was doing.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  I was never a

         12  truant.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I see, okay.

         14  Well, I certainly was, but, a derelict probably to,

         15  but see what I accomplished.

         16                 If they do not have to, if the arcade

         17  or the billiard hall does not have to worry about

         18  the age of someone, then why is it that they become

         19  a bad actor in this?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  They

         21  do have to worry about the age of someone under the

         22  truancy law.  It has nothing to do with the

         23  Department of Consumer Affairs.  The office of

         24  school safety has an entire operation.  I am really

         25  out my depth since that is a different division.
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          2  They look for truants, they fine truants.  It is a

          3  violation, right?

          4                 MS. RYAN:  Sir, I am going to have to

          5  ask if we can get back to you on that.  I am not an

          6  expert, I do not work in school safety, and I am not

          7  really knowledgeable of the truancy law for those

          8  officers.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  I

         10  think that we are all trying to solve this problem

         11  together.  So, I am not trying to trip up the

         12  Department of Consumer Affairs, I was just trying to

         13  understand within the truancy law, you are not

         14  allowed, at below some age, to be out during school

         15  hours.  It sounds like that is what you are saying.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  The

         17  arcade law has a lot of components, the proximity to

         18  the school, but another component is it allows the

         19  Commissioner to set certain standards, and, you

         20  know, the standards can be set by regulation, so

         21  they are not arbitrary, but it could include, you

         22  know, citations by the office of school safety of a

         23  business more than a certain number of times in a

         24  year.  But, I guess what we are saying is there is

         25  an existing law that has a structure that really

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  could address this in a sort of comprehensive way,

          3  and rather than redefining what is a truant and who

          4  might be okay to be in a cafe, which is very complex

          5  and hard to administer, going to this other

          6  structure and refining it so it works would make a

          7  lot of sense.

          8                 Another issue, which we did not raise

          9  is the definition of Internet cafes, and both

         10  Council Member Liu and Council Member Gioia's bills

         11  might be a little too broad.  I mean, there is in

         12  addition to the business that have a bunch of

         13  computers there are, you know, all the coffee houses

         14  many of which also provide Internet service, and I

         15  am not sure that that is what you want to capture.

         16  So, I think we need to refine the definitions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

         18  Liu.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  The definition

         20  of Internet cafe is clearly defined in Intro. 467,

         21  and I do not believe that to be to broad, but I do

         22  appreciate your concerns from a Department of

         23  Consumer Affairs point of view.  A DCA is charged

         24  with so many different responsibilities and there is

         25  still a problem with adjudication process that I
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          2  know we are looking to fix so that DCA can do a

          3  better job of carrying out all of its mandates.

          4  But, from the DCA's point of view, I think that the

          5  Internet- well let me rephrase, the bill that we are

          6  considering right now, Intro. 467, is not limited

          7  only to DCA.  I think that is something that we will

          8  clarify between the Police Department and your

          9  agency and possible other agencies as well.

         10                 So, when you say that we can perhaps

         11  bring this bill in line with the rest of the

         12  structure of the truancy laws, I think that makes

         13  sense.  I think that in terms of enforcement, we can

         14  figure out which agency or agencies can best be

         15  charged with enforcing this.  But, all of this does

         16  not take away from my belief that truancy, while it

         17  will exist whether or not we have this bill, truancy

         18  can be minimized by making sure that owners and

         19  operators of Internet cafes bear some responsibility

         20  as well.

         21                 Let me add as a final note that I do

         22  not believe that all Internet cafe owners have

         23  behaved irresponsibly in allowing minors to go into

         24  their establishments during school hours.  Most

         25  Internet cafe owners, I believe, do the right thing,
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          2  they post signs.  They clearly can detect when a

          3  minor, someone who is 12, or 13, or 14 years old

          4  comes into their establishment during school hours,

          5  while some people may argue that it will be

          6  difficult to ID or difficult to know exactly when

          7  school is open or not. The general case is that it

          8  is pretty much common sense. So, I think that this

          9  bill is not targeting all Internet cafe owners, it

         10  is simply imploring some of the Internet cafe owners

         11  who have not been conscientious to do the right

         12  thing and to help us to keep our schools in school.

         13                 I look forward to working with both

         14  of your departments on putting together a bill that

         15  will achieve that purpose of keeping kids in

         16  schools, and at the same time be enforceable in a

         17  practical way.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Just a moment.

         19  Council Member Liu.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chairman. I do want to take the liberty, and thank

         22  you, Mr. Chair, for this liberty to introduce two of

         23  the key people who have been proponents of tighter

         24  regulation of Internet cafes as it pertains to

         25  truancy, and that is Principal Joseph Cantara.
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          2  Principal Cantara would you mind standing up?

          3                 Principal Cantara is head of a very

          4  large intermediate school, IS 237, in Queens where

          5  many of these 12, 13, and 14- year old kids have,

          6  unfortunately, been found at Internet cafes during

          7  school hours.  He has approached the owners of these

          8  cafes, and asked them to help restrict the access to

          9  the minors during school hours to no avail, and that

         10  is why about a year ago last summer we began talking

         11  about what kind of bill would make sense to help him

         12  with this problem.

         13                 We are also joined here by Christine

         14  Colligan, Christine Troy Colligan, who is the

         15  President of the Korean American Parents

         16  Association.  She, actually, has been working on

         17  this issue for the last three years.  So, we are

         18  looking to have some kind of resolution on this

         19  issue in the form of a piece of a legislation.

         20                 We are also joined here by Terrance

         21  Park, who has brought together many- Terrance would

         22  you stand up- who is a community activist, and has

         23  brought together many owners of Internet cafes to

         24  support this bill, because these Internet cafe

         25  owners are already doing the right thing, and
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          2  strictly limiting access to their Internet cafes

          3  during school hours for minors.

          4                 They do have testimony, but because

          5  of the dual nature of this hearing on the vending

          6  issue as well as on the Internet cafe issue, the

          7  Chairman wishes to go back to the vending issue

          8  indifference to our esteemed State Senator who is

          9  hear with us today.  So we are going to come back to

         10  the Internet issue later on.  But knowing that these

         11  individuals are very busy in their schedules,

         12  particularly our Principal who has to get back to

         13  his school, I wanted to at least acknowledge that

         14  they are here, and they are here to testify, and if

         15  they may not be able to stay for the continuation of

         16  the Internet cafe portion of this hearing, that they

         17  can submit their testimony for the record.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes, I would also

         19  suggest that the Administration and the Police

         20  Department take an opportunity to meet with the

         21  Principal, get some ideas so you can certainly relay

         22  that to the truancy division.

         23                 If anybody wants to stay and testify,

         24  if you have the opportunity to stay and testify

         25  about Council Member Liu's bill on Internet cafes,
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          2  we will be taking testimony about that at about

          3  12:15, but I had committed to finishing up our

          4  hearing on vendors.  We are trying to do two things

          5  today, which may not prove to be as successful as I

          6  had hoped, and try also to accommodate everybody's

          7  busy schedules, the Administration, Council Member

          8  Liu has to leave, and so that is why we are trying

          9  to coordinate this.  But I would encourage the

         10  Administration to speak to the Principal.  I know he

         11  has to get back to the school.  We will be having a

         12  second hearing on this bill, and if you all want to

         13  come and testify at that time, you can.  If people

         14  can stay and want to testify on the Internet bill,

         15  we will be taking testimony on that in about,

         16  further testimony on that in about 45 minutes. Okay?

         17

         18                 Thank you, and I have yet to have an

         19  opportunity to introduce my colleague, Council

         20  Member Vincent Gentile from Brooklyn, who is also

         21  very concerned about this. Thank you all very much

         22  for being here.  Thank you.

         23                 Now is everybody perfectly clear

         24  about what we are doing?  Raise your hand if you

         25  know what I just said. Only half the class.  I am
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          2  telling you, John.

          3                 Okay, now, we are going back to the

          4  subject of vending.  I know we have a lot of people

          5  who want to testify about that.  If you have a

          6  concern, Sir, see the Sergeant at Arms.  State

          7  Senator Liz Krueger is with us.  If you have not

          8  signed up, please do on the subject of vending.

          9  Now, once again, let me tell you that we are taking

         10  three minutes of testimony, and if you are not

         11  offering solutions you might only get a minute and a

         12  half.  Okay?  I want to be absolutely clear about

         13  this.  Okay, thank you.

         14                 Good morning, Mr. Halperin.  The

         15  Sergeant at Arms is serious about this.  He is

         16  setting the clock.  We are not having the clock for

         17  the elected official, but he sets a warning to

         18  everybody, okay?

         19                 If you have discussion, take it

         20  outside, please, Council Members.  Thank you.

         21                 Good morning, Senator Krueger.

         22                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Good morning.

         23  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  Thank you for

         24  inviting me to testify today, although, I must admit

         25  now I am fascinated with the cyber cafe issue, but I
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          2  am not going to testify on that.  But, unlike

          3  Council Member Liu, I was also a bit of a derelict,

          4  and I think I would have been inside of cyber cafes

          5  had they existed during my school years.  So, I

          6  think it is an important issue.

          7                 I represent the 26th Senate District,

          8  which includes Midtown, East Midtown, and the Upper

          9  East Side.  As the representative of several major

         10  commercial areas, I am very aware of the many issues

         11  related to vendors operating in New York City. I

         12  would argue as a State Legislator that we must work

         13  with New York City Government and the City Council

         14  to come up with a balanced approach to vendors that

         15  both protects the rights of legal vendors and their

         16  customers while ensuring that the vendors do not

         17  negatively impact the health and safety of

         18  neighborhoods by overly exacerbating crowding in New

         19  York City's Central Business Districts.

         20                 Just by listening to the testimony

         21  earlier this morning between the Police Department,

         22  Consumer Affairs, and the questions that were raised

         23  by yourself and other members, it is so clear that

         24  this is not a simple issue, either for enforcement

         25  or for vendors or for the community.  Just to list
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          2  off some of the agencies currently involved, because

          3  we do not have a coordinated plan, we have Consumer

          4  Affairs, we have the Department of Health for food

          5  vendors, we have the Parks Department, we have New

          6  York State Law regarding disabled veteran vendors,

          7  we have the City Administrative Code, State Law, the

          8  Criminal Code, the General Business Law.  We heard

          9  about the City Law Office roles for forfeiture and

         10  confiscations, and, of course, we did not hear

         11  about, but it is also a relevant issue, sales tax

         12  enforcement for vendors, are in fact, those taxes

         13  being collected?  Are we applying the same business

         14  tax rules to business vendors on the streets as we

         15  are to businesses?

         16                 Unfortunately, I can say as a State

         17  Senator that the State has not been doing its part

         18  yet.  We allow the laws regulating vendor operation

         19  in the Central Business Districts to expire.  We

         20  have created, by doing so, an untenable and

         21  dangerous situation in certain areas of the City,

         22  including major areas of my own District, Times

         23  Square, parts of the 34th Street, Herald Square

         24  area, and on the East Side up in the 86th Street

         25  area.  This is contributed to a dramatic increase in
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          2  congestion and problems in other areas of the City

          3  as well, and you know this better than I, you have

          4  already had two hearings on it, but just to

          5  highlight one example, since the law sunsetted

          6  starting this summer, it has become almost

          7  impossible to walk down the sidewalks in the Times

          8  Square area during the day.  They are so overcrowded

          9  that large numbers of people are walking in the

         10  street on Broadway due to the wall of vendors on the

         11  sidewalk.  Then they must deal with illegally parked

         12  vehicles loading and unloading on the streets, and I

         13  fear that these conditions are inevitably leading to

         14  serious accidents and risk of accident for

         15  pedestrian.

         16                 As a first step, because you said

         17  several times today, and I agree, this hearing

         18  should be about addressing the problems and coming

         19  up with the solutions, I think it is essential for

         20  the State to act immediately to reestablish the

         21  sunsetted regulations limiting vending on main

         22  arteries in the Central Business Districts for

         23  disabled vets.  It is not an answer to the problem,

         24  I want to reiterate that this problem is much larger

         25  than the sunsetting of the State's Legislation for
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          2  disabled veteran veterans, but disabled veteran

          3  vendors, excuse me, but as we know because of the

          4  sunsetting that law, it has opened up streets in the

          5  Central Business areas to a carte blanche effect of

          6  legal- licensed vendors, disabled vet vendors, First

          7  Amendment vendors, and unlicensed vendors at such an

          8  enormous level that truly nobody in the Police

          9  Department or anyone else can sort out who are

         10  legal, who are not, and what we can do about it.

         11                 But, renewing our old law is just the

         12  first step in establishing a more rational and

         13  effective system for regulating vendors.  Even

         14  before the law expired, there were numerous problems

         15  with enforcement of existing laws, as well as

         16  serious and legitimate concerns regarding the

         17  distribution of specialized vendor licenses.  The

         18  questions that were asked earlier highlight better

         19  than my testimony the problems we face.  When the

         20  representative of the Police Department answered a

         21  question saying an individual policeman might have

         22  to carry around a booklet of 20 or 30 pages long

         23  just figure out which vendors licenses applied at

         24  what time of day, at which streets tells you, tells

         25  me as a State Legislator, this is not working
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          2  correctly.

          3                 The illusion that you would expect

          4  each individual police officer to be able to keep

          5  track of different rules for different vendors on

          6  different blocks depending on the hour, is an absurd

          7  assumption.  So, well I appreciate the police saying

          8  that is was not that complicated, of course it is.

          9  Of course it is extroadinarily complicated and we

         10  see it, and I know both vendors see it and consumers

         11  see it, businesses who complain to me about the

         12  number of vendors on their streets see it.  We have

         13  to simplify this process.

         14                 I would argue in an attempt to

         15  streamline the rules and regulations at the State

         16  and the local level when we are renewing laws, that

         17  we should ensure that there are standards of rules

         18  across different kinds of vendors, rather than

         19  having the blue the yellow the non- disabled vet,

         20  the Midtown between eight and three and the post

         21  Midtown after three or five, that we should have

         22  standardized rules that make sense.  It is not just

         23  what streets and what times, it is also depending on

         24  the license what distance from the corner, what

         25  distance from the curb.  It is completely
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          2  unrealistic to expect that anybody can correctly

          3  follow these rules or enforce these rules today

          4  because they are so haphazard and so complicated to

          5  understand.

          6                 I would argue, though, that we might

          7  explore, not only simplifying the rules by making

          8  them consistent, but perhaps targeting more

          9  carefully geographic locations of vendors.  Speaking

         10  as the representative for Midtown, there is no

         11  question in my mind that the situation that we have

         12  today along Broadway and Times Square, and along the

         13  34th Street Herald Square are and now 86th Street, I

         14  know you said it becomes more and more of a business

         15  district, that there is literally to many vendors

         16  per block to function, and ensure that we have got

         17  an ability for pedestrians to go down the streets,

         18  to cross our streets safely, to not create hazardous

         19  situations.

         20                 There are reasons we created in the

         21  past specific rules for specific Central Business

         22  District areas, and I would suggest that we want to

         23  reevaluate the entire geographic locating of

         24  vendors.  I would also suggest that we might want to

         25  explore opening up additional areas to vendors.
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          2  There was voiced concern here before, why do we have

          3  a set limit of vendor licenses.  Well, perhaps we

          4  could explore increasing the number of licenses if

          5  we would establish them by borough in some way, so

          6  that there was not an overpopulation in one

          7  geographic area where in other areas there may be no

          8  vendors at all.  So, we need to look at this from a

          9  city prospective beyond just the Midtown business

         10  coronary to look at it from the Five Borough

         11  perspective.

         12                 As I said, the current situation in

         13  Times Square cannot be allowed to continue.  I do

         14  believe that the State Legislature, Senate, and

         15  Assembly will move forward with a version of the

         16  disabled veteran vendor legislation, hopefully,

         17  before the end of the year when we go back in either

         18  November, I would hope in November, we are going to

         19  go back and get this done.  There are differences

         20  between the Senate bill and the Assembly bill.  The

         21  Assembly bill would have allowed for a significant

         22  expansion of the number of vendors, and the number

         23  of assistance they could have, and the number per

         24  block that could be located.  I do not support the

         25  Assembly's version of the bill.  I think we should
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          2  go forward with, frankly, almost the equivalent of a

          3  straight extender bill for some period of time, then

          4  sit down, State and City together, all of the both

          5  vendor business, City and State agency

          6  representatives, pull together a task force and

          7  figure out what makes the most sense for the entire

          8  City of New York.             I will note that in

          9  theory there is a street vendor review panel that

         10  exists, and yet, as far as I can tell, it does not

         11  exist.  So, right now we have an enormous complexity

         12  of systems with nobody overseeing it.  I do believe

         13  that it is in the best interest of the City of New

         14  York to take the lead on creating a task force to

         15  make recommendations for City law and State law,

         16  because I share, I believe it was your opinion

         17  earlier, people in Upstate New York do not

         18  understand this issue because it is not an issue in

         19  their communities.  So it should be the City

         20  Administration and the City Council taking the lead

         21  and making recommended changes on what makes sense

         22  and is in the best interest of the City of New York,

         23  and then coming to Albany with a proposed plan that

         24  we could then move through the legislature beyond

         25  simply extending the old law rather than allowing
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          2  Albany to dictate to the City of New York a new plan

          3  for vendors.   I do not believe that anyone on the

          4  City Council or the Administration would think that

          5  is in our best interest.

          6                 I also think it is important to think

          7  creatively about having vending zones, again, as I

          8  mentioned the standardization of street clearance

          9  rules.  It should not be one distance from the

         10  corner in one block are and another distance

         11  somewhere else.  It should not be a situation where

         12  there are different hours on different blocks as was

         13  used as an example right next to each other earlier

         14  in testimony today.

         15                 A final enforcement issue that is a

         16  difficult one for me, but one that I have concluded,

         17  I agree with the City Administration and the Police

         18  Department on is the problem of false identification

         19  and not being able to track recidivism by unlicensed

         20  illegal vendors, which means while police do as they

         21  said, arrest, every offense is treated as a first

         22  offense.  I do support the changes in the proposed

         23  State Legislation that would give police right to

         24  fingerprint upon arrest, which would provide a

         25  method of tracking, and therefore, increasing
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          2  penalties for subsequent offenses on people who

          3  continuously violate the law.  I do believe this

          4  would be extremely useful in discouraging illegal

          5  vending, and while there are legitimate concerns

          6  about overuse of fingerprinting by the police,

          7  particularly because many of the illegal vendors are

          8  also undocumented immigrants, I believe that as long

          9  as the City abides by the privacy protections

         10  recently implemented by Mayor Bloomberg in agreement

         11  with the City Council, that we could go move forward

         12  with the fingerprinting situation without putting

         13  additional New Yorkers at risk of facing federal

         14  action on their immigration status.

         15                 While the rules can be improved for

         16  making enforcement easier, it does not obviate the

         17  responsibility of the police to make every effort to

         18  enforce existing law.  I have gotten many complaints

         19  from businesses in my community that, in fact,

         20  despite the statements of the police earlier, that

         21  they do not prioritize enforcement, and they frankly

         22  see it on a one by one basis as to complex a system

         23  to deal with, to many different rules as we have

         24  talked about, to many different steps to be taken,

         25  to many different government agencies to deal with.
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          2  So, they choose to make the decision to look the

          3  other way because it is to overwhelming for them to

          4  deal with the issue.  So, I do believe that in the

          5  context of going forward, simplifying the process,

          6  not having five, six, seven, or eight different city

          7  agencies with differing responsibilities over

          8  portions of vendor enforcement and law, that we need

          9  to ensure that we have a streamline system, that

         10  with the police, and the vendors, and the

         11  businesses, know thorough education and training,

         12  what the new rules are, how to abide by them, and

         13  what happens if they do not abide by them.

         14                 The discussion earlier with the fact

         15  that DCA does not believe that they need to train

         16  vendors, I think it is clear to all of you sitting

         17  here who have gone to other hearings, we have

         18  enormous trouble figuring out these rules, these

         19  regulations, and what is supposed to be happening,

         20  and we are the legislators.  To make the assumption

         21  that vendors and the public just automatically know

         22  how to read all of these laws and then follow them

         23  correctly, I think is truly absurd.

         24                 I want to highlight one more issue

         25  that I do think is a State issue that we need to
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          2  deal with, but also to follow the recommendations of

          3  the City on, and that is the disabled vets vendor

          4  licenses.  There are important historical reasons

          5  for recognizing the rights of disabled veteran

          6  vendors, at the same time, I believe it is essential

          7  that we review the process by which the blue versus

          8  yellow licenses have been distributed.  The process

          9  should be evaluated to ensure the distribution of

         10  blue licenses, which is for the Midtown Central core

         11  areas, are distributed equitably.

         12                 In addition, it has been reported to

         13  me that there is significant number of licenses that

         14  are not currently being used.  If this accurate,

         15  they should be redistributed to active vendors.

         16  While I respect the desire to keep the number of

         17  blue licenses to a minimum to reduce crowding in

         18  Central Business Districts, since these licenses are

         19  particularly sought after in comparison to the

         20  yellow licenses for disable veteran vendors, which

         21  do not have a limit on them, but because the blue

         22  are so valuable, it is really essential for the City

         23  and the State to understand the process by which

         24  these are distributed, and to make sure that that is

         25  a fair and transparent process.
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          2                 It has also been brought to my

          3  attention by disabled veteran vendors that they have

          4  never had any access to the blue licenses and

          5  believe they will never have any access.  We want to

          6  have a fair and equitable system for distribution of

          7  licenses like any other limited commodity, you want

          8  to make sure that somebody does not get one for the

          9  wrong reasons, not use it, or keep control of it,

         10  when they, in fact, are not equally entitled to

         11  that.

         12                 I look forward to continuing to work

         13  with you, Chairman, and this Committee to try to

         14  rationalize a system that is clear to me is not

         15  working in anybody's best interest. I do believe

         16  there are ways to address this.  I would argue that

         17  we do need to have not just a task force to come up

         18  with suggested changes, and then to move through

         19  with City and necessary State Legislation to

         20  implement those changes.  We need to have an entity

         21  in the City of New York, who will then be the

         22  central entity for making sure that the new rules

         23  and regulations are implemented and followed.  I do

         24  not think that the answer is simply say, okay, DCA,

         25  you have to do more, or the police, you have to do
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          2  more.  I do not know whether the original street

          3  vendor review panel had a legal basis or was simply

          4  created at some point in history, but I do think you

          5  want to have a central city entity with the power

          6  and the authority to review, make decisions, and

          7  stay on top of all of the complex issues for

          8  vendors.  So I hope at the end of the story, we can

          9  have new laws, a system that is more fair and

         10  equitable to everyone, and that a mechanism for the

         11  City to go forward with enforcement and oversight.

         12                 So, thank you very much, and I am

         13  happy to answer questions.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, thank you

         15  very much, Senator.  Your testimony is refreshing

         16  and bold in some ways because this is so confusing,

         17  and there are so many constituent groups of concern

         18  that you have taken a stand on a few issues that I

         19  think more timid of our colleagues in the government

         20  might not.  I just want to go on record that I

         21  support what you have said--

         22                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- about the

         24  fingerprinting with the understanding that the Mayor

         25  and the Council have worked to try to protect
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          2  undocumented citizens.  Nevertheless, you cannot

          3  really ask the police to do a job, and people who

          4  are recidivists and, obviously, just ignoring the

          5  law, ought to be prosecuted to the fullest extent of

          6  the law.  I do not think that just because you are

          7  here trying to make a life for yourself, that one,

          8  you should be violating our laws, and two, violating

          9  the trademarks of the companies--

         10                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- that put this

         12  stuff out here.  So, it does not make any sense to

         13  me that we cannot find those, and I think anybody

         14  that would object to that ought to understand that

         15  the violators of these laws are also making it very

         16  difficult for the legitimate vendors who want to

         17  operate.  So, let's try to be clear here in

         18  separating out what the issues are.  So, I

         19  appreciate that.

         20                 I am also being told the same thing

         21  that you are about the number of blue licenses.  You

         22  indicated in your testimony that there is a number,

         23  there is a cap on the blue licenses, is that

         24  correct?

         25                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Yes, right now it
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          2  is 60.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And, do you have

          4  some guesstimate of how many of those are actually

          5  active as opposed to those that are not?

          6                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  I do not think that

          7  it would be anecdotal, but I have heard that perhaps

          8  only of about 40 of those are active and 20 are not.

          9    One question I actually, have, I am sorry that the

         10  City Agencies representatives left-

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, the

         12  Department of Consumer Affairs is ably here and

         13  representing.

         14                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Okay, great.  In

         15  theory, one should be able to track the active use

         16  of existing licenses by their sales tax reports.

         17  So, I do not know whether there is a mechanism where

         18  somebody tracks that in the City, and then actually

         19  ever takes a look and says, oh, there is nothing

         20  coming in on those licenses, either something is

         21  wrong and people are not paying their sales tax when

         22  they are active or something is wrong, these are

         23  licenses that are a valuable commodity that are not

         24  being used.  So, I think that an important role for

         25  City, and I am not sure which level of City
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          2  Government it would fall to, again the complexity of

          3  the system we set up currently, who actually does an

          4  oversight and cross check on that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So, are you

          6  suggesting that there needs to be some demonstration

          7  of activity with this license?

          8                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Yes, I think that

          9  that is a reasonable argument.  You know, I have

         10  disabled vets who would like to have blue licenses

         11  and know that they cannot get them if there are

         12  licenses out there, and again it is just anecdotal

         13  now, if there are licenses out there not being used,

         14  why shouldn't we redistribute them to somebody who

         15  wants to use them.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And just to

         17  reiterate on your testimony, there is presently no

         18  cap on the yellow licenses?

         19                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  That is my

         20  understanding.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Are there any

         25  questions? Council Member Gentile.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chairman.  Just a quick question and a comment.

          4  First of all, thank you, Senator, for joining us

          5  here today. My comment is having worked with a good

          6  Senator as a colleague in Albany and knowing the

          7  type of work she does there, your true to form with

          8  this issue and being well researched and certainly

          9  well thought out, and the tenacity with which you

         10  approach this issue and other issues is admirable.

         11  So we thank you for joining us on this crusade here

         12  today.

         13                 I am just curious, Senator, have you

         14  shared any of these thoughts of standardization with

         15  the Administration, with the City Administration?

         16                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Yes, actually, I

         17  have been talking with the City Administration reps,

         18  and recently held a meeting basically for other

         19  elected officials, City Administration, and

         20  communities affected in my Senate District where the

         21  City Administration participated, the police,

         22  various business representatives, I have met with a

         23  number of the vendors from my community.  So, I have

         24  been sharing these ideas.  Do we have unanimous

         25  consent?  No.  Clearly, I assume even in this room
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          2  today, we have people who have strong disagreements

          3  with some if not all of the positions I am taking.

          4                 What I think needs to happen, is for

          5  the players, so to speak, to sit down in a

          6  structure, perhaps not a hearing, but an actual task

          7  force, put out a series of recommendations on all

          8  sides, and try to come to some negotiated agreement

          9  of what would make sense.  Then take a look at, and

         10  it is complicated, from a legal perspective, what

         11  would we need to change in the Administrative law of

         12  the City of New York, what we might need to change

         13  in the enforcement codes up at the State law, what

         14  might we need to change in the general business law.

         15

         16                 So, rather than looking at a peace

         17  meal, which I think has been a problem up until, and

         18  certainly is, I think, a problem of the State law we

         19  are just trying to deal with the disabled veteran

         20  vendors, let's look at it holistically.  We are the

         21  City of New York, we have issues with street

         22  vendors. What are those issues?  Sort through them,

         23  you have had three hearings now, you know what the

         24  problems are.  Sit down with a group of experts from

         25  all around the issues, come up with a series of
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          2  recommendations, see what we think makes sense, and

          3  then figure out what laws do you need to change,

          4  City or State, to match what people think is a

          5  logical approach to changing how we are running the

          6  system now.  That would be my recommendation.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  That sounds

          8  like a doable type of a task force that we can do.

          9  I am just curious, the State law, you indicated that

         10  you think that there will be an extender or

         11  reinstitution of law before long.

         12                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Yes, it is my

         13  expectation. The Senate passed a bill that was in

         14  fact the City Administration's requested version of

         15  the extender law.  It did make some changes.  It

         16  added the fingerprinting and it also put a limit on,

         17  actually it disallowed vending in the World Trade

         18  Center immediate area.  The Assembly passed

         19  actually, the Assembly put forward a very different

         20  bill that made many changes, that I do not think the

         21  City of New York or this Council would necessarily

         22  have agreed upon, but that bill got stuck in various

         23  committees at the Assembly and never went anywhere.

         24  So, either the Assembly needs to now choose to pass

         25  the bill the Senate did already, or the Assemble and
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          2  the Senate need to come to an agreement on a

          3  different bill for both of them and get it passed.

          4  But it is my belief that we are getting close, if

          5  not there, and it is a question of getting back up

          6  to Albany and passing in both Houses.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  And we know

          8  sometimes how close it can be in Albany.

          9                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Oh, yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Well,

         11  Senator, thank you again for joining us, and we look

         12  forward to working with you on this.  Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chair.

         14                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Thank you and the

         15  Senate's loss is the Council's gain, so we did not

         16  lose you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Senator,--

         18                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Yes, please.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- before you

         20  leave, let me ask you one other question that you

         21  may not want to touch on. The area that also seems

         22  to be of considerable concern, and let me just first

         23  comment that I know you are concentrating on your

         24  District and also seeing it from a City perspective,

         25  but I know that this issue of vendors is extremely
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          2  problematic in many parts of the City.  I know

          3  Council Member Comrie out in Queens is in distress

          4  over it and meeting directly with DCA over this and

          5  the Bronx, every borough is affected by this. But, I

          6  was, yesterday, in part of your District on 86th

          7  Street--

          8                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- and there was a

         10  man selling baseball cards, nice guy actually, but

         11  if I remember correctly, he was selling the baseball

         12  cards under the auspices of the First Amendment.

         13  Now, I like baseball, and when I was a kid I

         14  collected cards, but I am hard pressed to understand

         15  how we are going to abuse what was such, you know, a

         16  struggle when we founded this country, the concept

         17  of First Amendment and free speech, to actually take

         18  it so far as to say we can sell baseball cards with

         19  it anywhere we want to. So, I have asked the

         20  Administration to further challenge this idea that

         21  just because someone raises the First Amendment that

         22  we cannot restrict where they are.  I am interested

         23  in what is your sense of that as an additional

         24  problem, and should we be going back to the court

         25  asking for some relief as it relates to finding a
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          2  way to not abuse people's right to first to express

          3  themselves, at the same time not have our streets

          4  and sidewalks so congested with material that is sad

          5  to say, but really does not represent freedom of

          6  expression.

          7                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  No, you do walk

          8  into territory that has been extremely complex.  I

          9  think both for government and for the courts and for

         10  many of you who, I know share my view, feel that we

         11  are very strong proponents of First Amendment Rights

         12  and, of course, the complication of it is not just

         13  the question of the baseball card, but as I meant to

         14  explain in my testimony and maybe skipped over,

         15  because of the State rules if you have a street open

         16  for disabled vet vendors, it is open for First

         17  Amendment, so that there is a cause/effect

         18  connection between one set of licenses and one other

         19  set of unlicensed, by right vendors.  So, in fact, I

         20  will answer your question, but to go back I would

         21  argue that there are some reasons why you want to

         22  limit, in particular, overcrowded areas, any vendors

         23  on specific blocks so you do not open yourself up to

         24  that much more complex issue of First Amendment.

         25                 Yes, I think when you are talking
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          2  about art, and free speech, the First Amendment's

          3  clear, and while it may be problematic for us here

          4  in New York City, we have to recognize court

          5  precedent around First Amendment Rights.  When you

          6  talk about commerce and selling, you have grade that

          7  area between First Amendment Rights to free speech

          8  and commerce, and while I understand that the gray

          9  area is, particularly complex in, I do a drawing,

         10  you may not like it or think it is art, but I think

         11  it is art, and I choose to sell it on the street, I

         12  would argue that my First Amendment Rights to call

         13  it art and treat it as such are real.  A preprinted

         14  baseball card, I am assuming it was not a hand drawn

         15  baseball card, but rather a preprinted commercial

         16  baseball card, I would agree with you.  I do not

         17  think that falls under the definition of First

         18  Amendment Free Speech versus what is defined as a

         19  commercial item for sale.  I do think that it will

         20  require revisiting some of these issues through the

         21  actual language of the law and court precedence.  We

         22  might agree on that, but we might not win that one

         23  in court.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thanks for joining

          4  us.

          5                 SENATOR KRUEGER:  Certainly.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We want to hear

          7  now from several people, Donald Halperin, Mallory

          8  Spain, and Brenda Goldman.  While they are coming we

          9  are going to take a two minute recess.

         10                 (Recess taken)

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you for that

         12  indulgence.  Why don't you introduce yourselves just

         13  for my own edification.  We have Ms. Goldman, right,

         14  and Donald Halperin, I can tell which one, and

         15  Mallory Spain, right? Thank you.  Have you decided

         16  who should speak first?  Please, and we are having a

         17  three- minute limit on testimony, okay?

         18                 MS. SPAIN:  Okay.  Okay, good

         19  afternoon, Mr. Chairman and other Members of the

         20  Committee.  My name is Mallory Spain.  I represent

         21  the East 86th Street Merchants and Residents

         22  Association.  I am going to make my comments very

         23  brief because we are so pressed for time.

         24                 I just want to say that I agree with

         25  just about everything that Liz Krueger said.  I
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          2  think her presentation was excellent and it really

          3  covered all of the issues that we have concern

          4  about.  Of course, I also agree with the fact that

          5  because there are so many issues that it is not a

          6  simple matter to solve them, and I think that we

          7  should have some sort of a task force where someone

          8  representing the vendors and other people who have

          9  concerns, maybe different community organizations be

         10  included so perhaps they can discuss these things

         11  and maybe come up with answers or suggestions, and

         12  then further we would, of course, have to check the

         13  laws to see what laws would have to be changed to

         14  comply with that.  But, I do think that it is

         15  something that we should work together on, and I

         16  think there should be a standardization of the

         17  rules.  That pretty much is, you know, my feeling.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         19  much.  Ms. Goldman.

         20                 MS. GOLDMAN:  Thank you, good

         21  morning, Chairman Reed and the rest of the Members

         22  of this Committee.  I have prepared a presentation,

         23  which delineates some ideas of the Tenants and

         24  Residents Association of East 86th Street.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Ms. Goldman, you
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          2  have to identify yourself for the record.

          3                 MS. GOLDMAN:  My name is Brenda

          4  Goldman.  The first delineated ideas for locations

          5  for general vendors, booth vendors, and book and

          6  religious vendors that came under First Amendment

          7  Rights, it then delineated ideas for the placement

          8  of vendors such as that vendors at existing

          9  locations be given their existing location and/or

         10  location preference if their present location will

         11  conflict with any new vendor laws.  Also, as an

         12  example, assignment of locations would always be

         13  made at the best interest of both the vendor and the

         14  community, and the number of vendors assigned to a

         15  block would be limited so not as to obstruct

         16  pedestrians, residents, or storeowners in their day

         17  to day activities.

         18                 Regarding display of vendor

         19  materials, all vendors will adhere to a uniform

         20  display of their products that permits for the sale

         21  of their items and that is astatically pleasing to

         22  the public.  Vendor stands, tables, carts, and

         23  vehicles or other means of permitted display would

         24  meet uniformed guidelines as permitted by vendor

         25  laws. Vendors would not be permitted to use clothing
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          2  racks, alter or add attachments to stand, bunch or

          3  set up L- like tables, or any other motive display

          4  that obstructs pedestrian traffic and creates the

          5  blight of the neighborhoods where vendors are

          6  located.  Vendors would not be permitted to display

          7  their goods on a sidewalk, draped on a vehicle, or

          8  any other method not approved in the vendor laws.

          9                 I am also trying to address income

         10  and sales tax suggesting that incomes would pay

         11  sales tax when purchasing products for street

         12  vending.  Vendors would be responsible for

         13  collecting sales tax as applicable by New York City

         14  and State laws.  Vendors would make the purchase

         15  price clearly visible to the public through all

         16  their products. They would also provide customers

         17  with receipt for their sale upon request.  These are

         18  all ideas to keep track of the income that is going

         19  in and coming out because the City deserves to

         20  receive compensation for the use of the land and to

         21  help in our City efforts.

         22                 Regarding sanitation.  That all

         23  vendors would be responsible for establishing

         24  private carting where applicable, and that all

         25  vendors will be responsible for maintaining the

                                                            99

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  sidewalk and street where they vend is provided by

          3  New York City Sanitation Laws.

          4                 Regarding enforcement.  Creation of

          5  an Vendor Enforcement Division would establish a

          6  department to oversee all vendors.  These would be

          7  individuals full versed in the vendor laws that

          8  would be uniform in their application across all

          9  vendor groups.  They would enforce and have the

         10  authority to issue summonses for infractions or

         11  violations of any vendor and/or New York City laws,

         12  including, but not limiting to traffic and

         13  sanitation.  Revenues derived from summonses issued

         14  to vendors would be used to help support a Vendor

         15  Enforcement Division.  A Vendor Enforcement Division

         16  would free our police officers to focus on

         17  protecting the public from violent and criminal

         18  activity.

         19                 I also attached an addendum that I

         20  found on the Internet of an individual who took

         21  photographs of unlicensed vendors in various areas

         22  of the City that would be of interest.

         23                 I thank you for your time.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         25  much.  Are you- I am not familiar with it, but are
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          2  you saying that within the Sanitation Code that

          3  there is a requirement that vendors, basically,

          4  clean up after themselves?

          5                 MS. GOLDMAN:  Yes, there is.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, thank you.

          7  Mr. Halperin.

          8                 MR. HALPERIN:  My name is Donald

          9  Halperin. Chairman Reed, I am here today testifying

         10  on behalf of the New York Metropolitan Retail

         11  Association, commonly known as NYMRA, an

         12  organization consisting, primarily, of retailers,

         13  many of them chain retailers nationally- based,

         14  operating in the City of New York.  Many of our

         15  members have experienced serious problems with

         16  street vendors.  We know that you have already held

         17  two hearings on the problems, and we are here today

         18  to focus on some of the solutions.  I will, however,

         19  reiterate that this is a very serious problem.

         20                 The causes of New York City's street

         21  vending problems relate to shortcomings in the law,

         22  particularly given the sunset of the State statute,

         23  and diffuse and uncoordinated responsibilities in

         24  enforcing whatever those laws may be.  As a matter

         25  of fact, it would appear that there is no single
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          2  individual or entity that actually has a clear

          3  overall understanding of what the laws are, and how

          4  they are to be implemented.

          5                 Having made this cursory observation,

          6  I would suggest first that the Council do all that

          7  it is able to do to encourage the State legislature

          8  to adopt legislation that fills the void left by the

          9  sunset of the law.  I know that a particularly

         10  sensitive issue facing the legislature is the

         11  question of maintaining fingerprinting records of

         12  violators. NYMRA is respectful of the concerns that

         13  underlay these sensitivities, but nevertheless,

         14  feels compelled to point out that in the absence of

         15  fingerprinting, those individuals who choose to

         16  flout the law, and time and again engage in illegal

         17  street vending, cannot be brought under control

         18  since enforcement authorities end up treating each

         19  recurrence as a first- time violation with little,

         20  if any, punishment.  The result is that repeat

         21  arrests are merely an inconvenience or a cost of

         22  doing business.  Some means must be devised to

         23  identify repeat offenders and to subject them to

         24  meaningful penalties and controls.

         25                 Whatever the State legislature does
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          2  or does not do, the City can take steps to bring

          3  cohesiveness to the overall enforcement of street

          4  vending, which currently is largely absent.  Under

          5  the existing laws, the Police Department, the

          6  Department of Health, the Environmental Control

          7  Board, the Department of Consumer Affairs, and the

          8  Vendor Review Panel of the Department of Business

          9  Services, and perhaps some others, are involved with

         10  regulating and enforcing street vendors.  It seems

         11  that no single individual or agency has a grasp of

         12  the entire maze of rules and regulations that govern

         13  this area.  As a result, laws are not effectively

         14  implemented and enforced, and those who are subject

         15  to these laws often feel that they are not being

         16  dealt with fairly.

         17                 It might well be that given the

         18  current outbreak of violence relating to the control

         19  of vending location and the large quantities of

         20  counterfeit goods appearing on the streets, which at

         21  least in some news reports have been linked to

         22  support of terrorist activities, other agencies

         23  should also become involved in helping to control

         24  the illegal vending activities.  The New York City

         25  Comptroller estimates that one billion dollars in

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  taxes, that should be emanating from street vending

          3  sales, remain uncollected. Perhaps there is a way to

          4  better engage the State, whose responsibility it is

          5  to collect these.

          6                 There are two primary thrusts that I

          7  believe the City should follow.  The first is to

          8  designate a lead agency, or create a task force, or

          9  a new position to be appointed by the Mayor whose

         10  responsibility it would be to oversee and coordinate

         11  enforcement of existing law.

         12                 Another thrust should be the

         13  development of some system of assigning and

         14  controlling the presence of vendors at least in

         15  certain saturated areas.  Legislation was introduced

         16  in 1998, Intro. 110, which might serve as a good

         17  starting off point for the consideration of such a

         18  system.  It in essence would involve the issuance of

         19  a warrant authorizations to vend at particular

         20  locations and cap the number of vendors in

         21  designated areas.  This seems like a wise approach,

         22  although it certainly could be tweaked.  There

         23  already exists a system relating to disabled veteran

         24  vendors whereby each vendor, while not assigned to a

         25  specific area, is given a priority to vend in
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          2  certain approved locations.

          3                 I have been asked to keep my comments

          4  short. I hope I have done that, and I look forward

          5  to working with the Committee on behalf of NYMRA.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, and you

          7  have also honored my requests for serious

          8  recommendations.  All of you have, and I appreciate

          9  that.  I am trying to find the letter that I think

         10  we received today from the Department of Business

         11  Services recommending that we get rid of the Vendor

         12  Review Panel.  So, at least one of the things that

         13  you are recommending the Administration agrees with.

         14    It does not exist, and it is foolish to continue

         15  to have it on the books. I do have a feeling that we

         16  are getting somewhere in all of this, and I

         17  appreciate, particularly, Ms. Spain, your

         18  determination on this and continuing engagement.  I

         19  did not reach out to you yesterday because I just

         20  felt that might be more than I wanted to do.  We

         21  just wanted to simply take a stroll without

         22  everybody knowing what I was trying to figure out.

         23                 MS. SPAIN:  Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So, do not take it

         25  as my ignoring your interest in this issue.  Thank
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          2  you all very much--

          3                 MS. SPAIN:  Yes, I do not, and I

          4  thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you all for

          6  testifying.

          7                 Now the people who have already

          8  reached out to the Committee that said they wanted

          9  to testify, there is one group called New York

         10  Street Vendors United.  Do they have a spokesperson?

         11    I did not ask for the whole group, I just said is

         12  there a spokesperson.  Okay, have you signed up to

         13  testify, Sir?  Have you signed up today?  What is

         14  your name, Sir?  Say it a little louder.  So, why

         15  don't the two of you come forward, and if one of you

         16  has not signed, we will get you to sign.  Okay  Are

         17  you two ladies with United Vendors?  Did you sign up

         18  to speak?

         19                 Then we are also going to hear from

         20  Mitchell Balmuth and Jack Nesbitt.  Are they hear?

         21  Who are you, Sir?

         22                 MR. NESBITT:  I am Jack Nesbitt.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You are Jack, are

         24  you going to get Mitchell?  Okay.

         25                 So, now as I understand it, there is

                                                            106

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  going to be one or two spokespersons, but everybody

          3  is going to- no, no, you are the next panel, okay?

          4  They look like Bartles and James, but sit down, do

          5  not leave.  I knew there was company old enough to

          6  remember that commercial.  Who is the spokesperson?

          7  Okay.  So, would you- are we ready, Sergeant, okay?

          8  Would you introduce yourself, and then if you want

          9  to have everybody else speak into the microphone to

         10  acknowledge themselves or identify themselves, that

         11  would be fine.  Okay?

         12                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  My name is Judi

         13  Mukarhinda. I am a staff organizer for Street Vendor

         14  Project for urban justice.  Thank you for this

         15  opportunity to speak.  I am here on behalf of New

         16  York Street Vendors United, a recently formed

         17  coalition of organized street vendors from across

         18  the City and community- based organizations working

         19  along side them.

         20                 Members of the coalition include

         21  CAAAV organizing Asian communities, Latin American

         22  Workers Project, Esperanza del Barrio, the Street

         23  Vendors Project of the Urban Jersey Center, the

         24  Bangladesh Vendors Association, the West African

         25  Street Vendors Association, the New York Immigration
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          2  Coalition.  Representatives from each of these

          3  organizations are here with me today.

          4                 As a former vendor, I know first hand

          5  the problem of police abuse.  I know many police are

          6  dedicated to chasing, and arresting, and booking

          7  people who are only trying to make an honest living.

          8    No other small business people are treated this

          9  way.  I know the racial profiling that often leads

         10  to the arrest of people who are not vending, just

         11  because of the way they look.  I know about verbal

         12  abuse by police officers who tell vendors to go back

         13  to Africa, or go back to Mexico, or back to

         14  Bangladesh.  I know about physical abuse, and I have

         15  seen vendors beaten by the police right in front of

         16  me.  I know vendors whose goods are ceased and

         17  stolen or thrown in the trash right in front of them

         18  in order to humiliate them.   They happen everyday

         19  across our City.

         20                 It is a great accomplishment that we

         21  have managed to work across cultural differences,

         22  and family vendors from around the globe have come

         23  together, and in unity we are here today to denounce

         24  this abuse, and to ask that real changes be made.

         25  We are mostly poor immigrants and people of color,
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          2  and we stand united to demand more fair and credible

          3  vending laws.

          4                 As in New York Street Vendors United,

          5  our common platform is as follows; we are asking

          6  that the cap on licenses be lifted, and the

          7  burdensome requirements for immigrants to obtain a

          8  license be removed, for an end to police abuse, that

          9  more streets be open to vending, that vendors stop

         10  being arrested and our goods stop being ceased, that

         11  the $1,000 vending fine be reduced, that we abolish

         12  the 20- foot rule, which makes it nearly impossible

         13  for vendors to find a legal spot, and that we no

         14  longer be fingerprinted or have our photograph

         15  taken.

         16                 Can I have one minute?  Thank you.

         17                 We are not working to turn our ideas

         18  into action --.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Excuse me, excuse

         20  me.

         21                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You said, what did

         23  you say about fingerprinting and photographs?  I did

         24  not hear.

         25                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  I said, we no longer
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          2  want to be fingerprinted or have our photographs

          3  taken.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You do not?

          5                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  No, we do not.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, go ahead.

          7                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Okay, thank you.  We

          8  are now working to turn our ideas into action, and

          9  we are asking for help.  On November 18th, we will

         10  hold a convention to gather all vendors from across

         11  the City, licensed and unlicensed who have had

         12  everything, food, general merchandise, books, art,

         13  and religious items, including veterans and disabled

         14  veterans. From this convention there will emerge

         15  specific legislation, and we are asking for your

         16  help and your support in making it a reality.  This

         17  is the third hearing on vending.  Everyone agrees

         18  that the system is broken, now is time to fix it.

         19  Please help us, and thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Before I ask some

         21  questions, why don't we have everybody just identify

         22  themselves that are patiently standing there.  If

         23  you want to introduce them or if want to have them

         24  introduce themselves.

         25                 MR. MOUSTAPHA:  My name is Cisse
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          2  Moustapha.  I have a general vendor license.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You can lift the

          4  microphone, I think.

          5                 MR. MOUSTAPHA:  My name is Cisse

          6  Moustapha.  I have a general vendor's license.

          7                 MR. HUSSEIN:  My name is Mohamom

          8  Hussein.  I am a food vendor.

          9                 JULIA VILLEGAS:  Julia Villegas,

         10  represent Esperanza del Barrio.

         11                 MR. JARRIN:  Carlos Jarrin, represent

         12  Washington Height.

         13                 MS. BERMUDEZ:  My name is Flor

         14  Bermudez.  I am a staff attorney for Esperanza del

         15  Barrio.  Julia is from Esperanza del Barrio, an

         16  organization in Harlem and Carlos comes from

         17  Washington Heights.  They are both vendors.

         18                 MS. PETERS- QUINTERO:  Okay, my name

         19  is Mayra Peters- Quintero.  I am from the NYU School

         20  of Law Immigrants Rights Clinic.  I am glad to be

         21  here again.  I am working with the coalition, and

         22  Judy, I just wanted to make some brief remarks

         23  responding to the Administration's points and

         24  proposing some other solutions that have come up

         25  based on what they have raised.
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          2                 The problems presented and the

          3  solutions proposed by the Administration this

          4  morning really focused on vendors, higher penalties,

          5  fingerprinting, increased enforcement in certain

          6  areas, and so on.  I wanted to respond to these

          7  comments and suggest solutions directed towards the

          8  Administration coming out of the coalition.

          9                 First, with respect to the Police

         10  Department's remarks, it is clear to us and all the

         11  vendors in the audience that ticketing, forfeiting,

         12  and confiscation does not occur at all in the way

         13  described by NYPD, with all do respect.  The

         14  ticketing is haphazard at best, cops are not trained

         15  and clearly do not understand what they are

         16  charging.  The majority of the tickets we see in the

         17  criminal part are dismissed because they are

         18  facially invalid.  A police officer will charge a

         19  single vendor with a food violating license, a

         20  general vending violation, disorderly conduct, tax

         21  code violation, they will throw everything under the

         22  sun as a form of harassment.  They are clearly

         23  poorly trained and using the summons as a way of

         24  harassing vendors.

         25                 In addition, the way NYPD described
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          2  the vouchering of goods that are confiscated, I

          3  think, you probably surmised from the audience's

          4  response, it absolutely does not happen like that on

          5  the street.  Everything is not vouchered, with my

          6  own eyes in Brooklyn I have seen police officers

          7  turn over vendor's goods, stomp on them, and destroy

          8  them in the streets.  I do not know if you call that

          9  forfeiture or confiscation, but it clearly is not a

         10  policy that the NYPD presented to you today.  So, I

         11  wanted to clarify that.

         12                 In addition, what they did not

         13  mention was that since a huge number of these

         14  tickets are dismissed, it does not end there for the

         15  vendor.  They might be arrested, the ticket

         16  dismissed, and then in order to reunite with the

         17  goods that have been confiscated, then they have to

         18  start an entire new process with the Law Department

         19  despite the fact that there ticket has been

         20  dismissed, where often they are asked to pay

         21  exorbitant storage fees for the time that the

         22  confiscated goods were held by the police.

         23                 Solutions that we propose are

         24  obvious, but need to be reiterated.  The police

         25  needs affective training.  I am not talking about
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          2  Loui Vatton trademark infringement trade, I am

          3  talking about basic training because they clearly do

          4  not understand the rights of vendors.  They cross

          5  the line repeatedly.  Our coalition is taking steps

          6  to start compiling the statistics, filing civilian

          7  complaint review board claims, and meeting with the

          8  precincts in an effort to improve this, but we

          9  appeal to the City Council to help us work on the

         10  NYPD and the Administration's side to normalize

         11  relations.

         12                 In addition, the Administration, the

         13  Assistant Commissioner for the Department of

         14  Consumer Affairs, though she contradicted herself, I

         15  would say it was the first person I have ever heard

         16  say that the laws are clear on vending.  I do not

         17  need to tell you, Council Member Reed, you know this

         18  is, absolutely, as far you can get from the truth.

         19  Vendors receive, as in her own testimony, verbatim

         20  list of the laws. I am an attorney, and I have a

         21  hard time making that out.  We have huge numbers of

         22  vendors for whom English is not their first

         23  language, add to that an English language, I think

         24  the Administrator's comment was that we are not

         25  responsible for interpreting the law for them.  We
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          2  are not asking for them to interpret the law.  We

          3  are asking them to uphold their responsibility to

          4  licensees and citizens to disseminate the laws in a

          5  clear way so that we can all get on the same page.

          6                 I want to echo Council Members

          7  Koppell's statement that DCA needs to be pushed for

          8  a deadline, we ask the Committee to help us in this

          9  process.  We have been waiting for a very long time

         10  for a comprehensive scheme.  In the meantime, the

         11  coalition is putting together their own proposal of

         12  reform in a way of revamping the code, but DCA --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, excuse me.

         14  You have run over your three minutes, and some of

         15  your comments, I think, I understand exactly what

         16  you are saying and appreciate them, but I asked you

         17  for recommendations.

         18                 MS. PETERS- QUINTERO:  Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Are you going to

         20  make some recommendations?

         21                 MS. PETERS- QUINTERO:  Yup.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.

         23                 MS. PETERS- QUINTERO:  I recommended

         24  that the NYPD receive effective training.  I

         25  recommend that the DCA disseminate clear and
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          2  accurate information for vendors in multiple

          3  languages, so they can understand the rules.  I

          4  recommend that the Committee, respectfully, I

          5  recommend that you push the Department of Consumer

          6  Affairs to come forward with a plan that we have

          7  been waiting on for more than a year. I also

          8  recommend that the Department of Consumer Affairs

          9  bring all of the players to the table in this

         10  process of revamping. They have mentioned they have

         11  worked with criminal justice, they mentioned they

         12  worked with business interests.  There are plenty of

         13  vendors, and you have seen them at all three

         14  hearings, taken a day off work, meeting in your

         15  office, they are interested in complying with the

         16  law and revamping the code.  The Department of

         17  Consumer Affairs has a responsibility to bring them

         18  to the table.

         19                 Finally, I will propose the most

         20  obvious solution, which is what Council Member

         21  Barron raised today, we have to raise the cap and

         22  provide more licenses for vendors. NYPD said the

         23  problem was unlicensed vending, the solution is very

         24  simple.  The Assistant Commissioner mentioned that

         25  we have a hard time coming up with a number to agree
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          2  upon, but we do not have to wait to revamp the whole

          3  scheme.  We can come up with a number, and I urge

          4  the Council to seriously consider raising the cap

          5  immediately, and removing some of the unnecessarily

          6  burdensome restrictions on immigrant applicants.

          7                 Thanks.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

          9                 MS. LEE:  Hi, my name is Hyun Lee.  I

         10  am a staff organizer at CAAAV organizing Asian

         11  Communities, and I organize vendors in China Town,

         12  and I would also like to say a few remarks to follow

         13  up.

         14                 In Chinatown we did a survey recently

         15  of consumers, and learned that 85% of Chinatown

         16  residents support vendors and want vendors in the

         17  community.  So, let's establish clearly from the

         18  get- go that consumers want vendors and value the

         19  service they provide.  A lot of the problems

         20  discussed earlier are caused by the fact that there

         21  are not enough licenses and not enough vending

         22  spaces.

         23                 In other words, the police arrest

         24  vendors for not having licenses, but they simply

         25  cannot get licenses because of the cap.  Police also
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          2  tell vendors, you cannot vend here, you have to go

          3  elsewhere, but there is simply nowhere else to go.

          4                 So, in the case of Midtown the

          5  majority of the streets are already closed to

          6  vending, which means that this causes overcrowding

          7  on the streets where vending is allowed. In the case

          8  of Chinatown there is not enough spaces for everyone

          9  with a license, so many are forced to share vending

         10  spots with others.  This means that vendors are only

         11  vending part- time even though they have a license

         12  to be full- time vendors.  So, it simply does not

         13  make sense to blame vendors, if you make it

         14  virtually impossible for them to follow the law.

         15                 I concur 100% with Council Member

         16  Barron that the solution to unlicensed vending is to

         17  issue more licenses. Also, we need to create more

         18  vending spaces, and it is possible to do it and

         19  create better traffic flow at the same time.  Urban

         20  planners do this all the time.  They think about

         21  these things.  You look at a specific location, it

         22  is possible to design it creatively so that you have

         23  wider sidewalks, and you have street furniture or

         24  railings that divide traffic from vending areas.  It

         25  is possible, and you ask vendors, they are
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          2  intimately familiar with the vending spots that they

          3  are on, and they know how to design public spaces in

          4  a way that you can have traffic flow and vendors.

          5                 My concern is that the tendency of

          6  the cop, the NYPD, especially the Manhattan South

          7  Task Force, is that they blame and punish vendors

          8  unilaterally.  In the case of Chinatown, every time

          9  Manhattan South comes to Chinatown we see, on that

         10  day, everybody in Chinatown with clumps of tickets

         11  in their hands.  We have seen vendors get six

         12  tickets for the same violation.  We have gone to ECB

         13  court with them, where the ticket actually gets

         14  dismissed, but then they go to get their confiscated

         15  merchandise and their vending cart back, and because

         16  of the administrative bureaucracy they have to wait

         17  a whole week before they can get their cart back,

         18  and they have to pay for storage fees.  These kinds

         19  of measures just do not make any sense.

         20                 Lastly, I concur with the sentiment

         21  of this Committee that the DCA has taken way to long

         22  to come up with their own proposal.  We do not want

         23  to wait any longer.  So, therefore, we have formed a

         24  coalition, and in November we plan to have a

         25  convention where we bring together all kinds of
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          2  vendors together to think about some top priorities

          3  for vendors, and we plan to come up with our own

          4  proactive platform.  We are more than ready to work

          5  with this Committee to come up with solutions.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You have indicated

          8  that when they come to Chinatown there are people

          9  running around with a fistful of tickets.

         10                 MS. LEE:  Yes, Sir.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Are these people

         12  who have a general vending license?

         13                 MS. LEE:  They are licensed and

         14  unlicensed vendors, Sir.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What is the

         16  percentage?

         17                 MS. LEE:  The percentage- there are

         18  120 licensed vendors in Chinatown, there is only 90

         19  legal vending spots.  So, a lot of them are sharing

         20  spots together. Unlicensed vendors, there has been

         21  an increase since after September 11th.  There is no

         22  way that we can say the exact number because they

         23  vend sometimes in Chinatown and other parts of the

         24  Chinatown as well.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I am sorry, Sir, I
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          2  did not really clearly understand your name.  Tell

          3  me.

          4                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Me?  My name is Judi

          5  Mukarhinda.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Sir, what is your

          7  reasoning for not wanting to have fingerprinting or

          8  photographs on a license?

          9                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Okay, first of all,

         10  I think that vendors are not criminals.  They are

         11  just small business owners who are just trying to

         12  make an honest living to provide for their family.

         13  The reason I am saying that is because it happened

         14  to me one time.  I was not vending anything.   I had

         15  my bag closed, I have watches in my bag, that day I

         16  was not selling, I was standing on the street, and

         17  the officers on the plane in street uniforms came to

         18  me.   He asked me what I have in my bag, and I asked

         19  him, why are you asking me that?  So, he said, you

         20  are a vendor, and he locked me up.  He just locked

         21  me up right on the spot, and I felt that my right

         22  was violated.

         23                 I say this, they are targeting

         24  special people because they know that most people,

         25  most immigrants, they do not speak English, and most
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          2  of them do not know the Constitution.  They do not

          3  know their rights, and so that is why they target

          4  them.  In the event, the officer told me that maybe

          5  where you are from you guys probably do not even

          6  sell on the street, and you probably do not even

          7  speak to the officers.  I said I am not an American

          8  Citizen, and of course, I do not know the

          9  Constitution, but what you guys just did right now

         10  is wrong because I was not selling anything.  He

         11  told me whether you sell or not, the next time if I

         12  see you on the street, because I recognize you, you

         13  guys, that is what you do, I will remember you, the

         14  next time I see you here vending or not, I am going

         15  to arrest you, this is my precinct, I do not want

         16  you to sell--

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, I am not

         18  sure that you are answering my question.

         19                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Oh, okay.  I do not

         20  know if I really I--

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  My question was--

         22                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- why are you

         24  opposed to photographing and fingerprinting people.

         25  You want more licenses--
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          2                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- I may agree with

          4  you,--

          5                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- but I am not

          7  sure that anybody is going to agree with you about

          8  giving out more licenses where we are not able to at

          9  least have a photograph of who it is we just gave

         10  the license to.

         11                 No, no, no, I am asking you the

         12  question.

         13                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Okay, for the

         14  fingerprinting, I think the reason is for

         15  immigration purpose, I think most vendors--

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Did you just hear

         17  people say that with the understanding that we are

         18  going to make sure that what the Mayor has recently

         19  said about using that for purposes of immigration is

         20  respected?

         21                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Yes, but I made my

         22  statement prior to listening to what people said, so

         23  I just read my statement.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, well tell me

         25  what you think now that you heard those statements.
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          2                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  I still believe

          3  fingerprinting is not a good thing for vendors

          4  because--

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What about

          6  photographs?

          7                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Okay, myself, I do

          8  not mind getting my photograph--

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You are here as a

         10  spokesperson today--

         11                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Okay, yes--

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED: -- so are you

         13  saying that the United Vendors are opposed to

         14  photographs on a license?

         15                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  No, photographs I do

         16  not think it is really is a big issue, but I think--

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  But you raised it,

         18  so I am just trying to be clear now.

         19                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  No, wait a

         20  minute, he means photo on the license.

         21                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  No, photo on the

         22  license we agree on that.  We need our photographs

         23  to be on the license, we do not disagree on the

         24  taken our photograph for the license.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Because that was
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          2  how I heard it so I wanted to make clear about this.

          3                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Oh, okay, all right,

          4  for the photograph we do not mind our photograph be

          5  taken for the purpose of the license in getting a

          6  license,--

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.

          8                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  We are taken about

          9  the photograph the police, when we get arrested.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You know to be a

         11  Councilman you have to get you photograph taken to,

         12  so, you know, I want to make sure that we are all

         13  getting photographed.

         14                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Oh, okay, for the

         15  photograph, I understand that.  We need our

         16  photograph taken for the purpose of the license, so

         17  for that we do not disagree.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Now, let me ask

         19  all three, or I guess there is three of you who are

         20  testifying, and I appreciate that you are here.

         21  What is the New York Street Vendor United, what, as

         22  a group, are you doing, or do you feel it is your

         23  responsibility, or do you think that it would be

         24  useful for you as a group to assist us, the City, in

         25  monitoring or controlling people who habitually
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          2  violate the law and sell merchandise that is

          3  trademark, and obviously, stolen goods?  Do you

          4  think you have any concern or responsibility to help

          5  us deal with that situation?

          6                 MR. BYZANSKY (phonetic):  Hi, Council

          7  member and the Committee.  I am Sean Byzansky from

          8  the Street Vendor Project of the Urban Justice

          9  Center and working here on behalf of New York Street

         10  Vendors United.  I think it is important to remember

         11  that often times counterfeiting and what I almost

         12  never see, I think I saw it in London once, was the

         13  sale of stolen goods on the street.  The possession

         14  of stolen property is a separate crime--

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Counterfeiting,

         16  let's talk about counterfeiting.

         17                 MR. BYZANSKY:  Counterfeiting is a

         18  separate crime and as the Police Department

         19  testified, counterfeiting is a fingerprintable

         20  offense now, which is registered in the State

         21  database and which does appear on a person's rap

         22  sheet. So, it is not true that habitual

         23  counterfeiters are not kept track, they are kept

         24  track of.  I really think that if you separate the

         25  problem of counterfeiting, which is a separate
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          2  issue, which the police do need to enforce, and we

          3  are for the enforcement of the laws on

          4  counterfeiting, if you separate that from the real

          5  issues at hand, these people in this room do not

          6  sell counterfeit items, and the vast majority of

          7  vendors do not sell counterfeit items, and really,

          8  it is often used as a bogie for discrimination

          9  against vendors of all kinds.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I do not disagree

         11  with you, Mr. Byzansky.  I think that the problem

         12  that you will have is that the general public cannot

         13  distinguish either, and we have talked about the

         14  confusion that people have over all the law, and,

         15  you know, what a vendor can and cannot do, but what

         16  I am saying is that you have presented yourself, and

         17  you group, I think correctly, as responsible

         18  vendors.  People who want to have a change in the

         19  law want to be respected individually, but also able

         20  to support your families in this enterprise.

         21                 The majority of the people on the

         22  street really find it very difficult to distinguish

         23  one set of vendors from another set of vendors, and

         24  often times find themselves frustrated, and

         25  particularly when they see counterfeit stolen or any
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          2  other kinds of goods on the street.  So, it is sort

          3  of like we ask most business organization, what are

          4  you doing, or what is it that you feel is your

          5  responsibility or your commitment to trying to help

          6  us clean up the very business that you want to

          7  participate in.

          8                 So, for instance, I am in favor of

          9  increasing the number of general vending licenses,

         10  on the other hand, it is hard for me to say that to

         11  the general public that that is what we should do

         12  without also looking at fixing some of the clear

         13  violations and the problems that we have.  So, I am

         14  asking you and your group, what role you think you

         15  could play in terms of self- monitoring this?  I

         16  mean you have got to acknowledge that there is some

         17  bad players and bad apples in this crew, not

         18  everybody is holier than now as a vendor.  Am I

         19  right?  So, what is your group doing in trying to

         20  help us weed out who it is that is trying to play by

         21  the rules, and who it is that is trying to just

         22  violate it and get over?

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Hi, Council

         24  Member Reed. So, as I am part of the New York Vendor

         25  United as well, and I think that one of the things
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          2  that we need to clarify is that most of the common

          3  issues that have united all of these groups are

          4  police abuse and the fact that many of our group

          5  members are unlicensed, right?  So, the people who

          6  sell counterfeit goods, do not want to get a license

          7  because they cannot for what they sell, right?  So,

          8  currently we do not have any members in our

          9  coalition that are part of that group.

         10                 Proactively we are educating our own

         11  license vendors.  We are educating our licensed

         12  vendors, but so far we have not had any of the

         13  members of the counterfeit trade in our group.

         14  However, you know, they will be welcome to come our

         15  convention, and if they could participate with us,

         16  and sort of, bring solutions to whatever problems

         17  they are facing, I think that that could be a great

         18  contribution.  If you could invite them to our

         19  convention, and we could talk to them and facilitate

         20  a dialogue with the City as well, I think that is

         21  one of the contributions that our group can do.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  All right.  Thank

         23  you all very much for coming.

         24                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Yes, I just want to

         25  comment something.  I know a lot of vendors also
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          2  sell counterfeit merchandise and sometimes the

          3  problem is when we ask why did you sell counterfeit

          4  merchandise, the problem also was that they could

          5  not get a license.  So, that is why they sell

          6  counterfeit merchandise because to them this

          7  merchandise sells fast because they do not have a

          8  jobs.  They do not have a license to stand on the

          9  street all day, so they will not be bothered by the

         10  police   So the reason for them is they go out there

         11  and sell counterfeit merchandise because the

         12  merchandise can sell fast, maybe 10, 20 minutes, so

         13  they are going to get away from the cops.  I think

         14  with our coalition we can work on educating these

         15  people, calling them, reaching out to them, and

         16  telling them that there is a chance that there will

         17  be an uplift on the licensed cap that is better off

         18  for you.  It is an opportunity to grab so that you

         19  are probably going to stop selling counterfeit and

         20  make an honest living and pay taxes.  I think the

         21  problem is really the cap on them because they

         22  cannot get a license.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, thank you.

         24  Because of the amount of time that we have, which is

         25  not much, we have people here to testify on the
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          2  other subject, I want to thank you all very much for

          3  coming.  Thank you.

          4                 MR. MUKARHINDA:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Quickly, let us

          6  move to the last two people on the issue of vendors,

          7  Mr. Nesbitt and Mr. Balmuth, and both of you have

          8  two minutes to testify.

          9                 Please identify yourselves for the

         10  record.

         11                 MR. NESBITT:  My name is Jack

         12  Nesbitt.  I am a member of ARTIST.  Can you hear me?

         13    I want to relay anecdotally an occurrence that

         14  happened to me in the last three months.  I have

         15  been--

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Sir, Sir, I have

         17  asked today for solutions.  I am going to cut you

         18  off unless you have solutions.  I am trying to get

         19  this hearing finished at one o'clock, and with all

         20  do respect, we have heard ample anecdotes about what

         21  has happened to people, so if you have ideas that

         22  you want to put forward in the two minutes that you

         23  have that is fine, otherwise, we are not going to

         24  take your testimony today.

         25                 MR. NESBITT:  I will be glad to do
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          2  that, Councilman Reed.  Since I have been arrested,

          3  I want to make the suggestion that the police be

          4  informed about First Amendment vendors, such as

          5  myself, who have full protection under the law, and

          6  for them to be informed on what we are doing is not

          7  an arrestable offense.  I had my stuff taken,

          8  stuffed into a bag, I was jailed.  When I--

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Sir, what are your

         10  recommendations?

         11                 MR. NESBITT:  My recommendations is

         12  that the police get on the phone, call into the

         13  precinct, and find out if the offense that they are

         14  charging me with is arrestable. That is all.  If it

         15  is an arrestable offense, and I made that

         16  suggestion, I made the officers aware that I am

         17  protected as a First Amendment vendor.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Let me ask you a

         19  question. What is it that you sell?

         20                 MR. NESBITT:  I sell my own artwork,

         21  and actually do my artwork on site.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, so your

         23  suggestion is that the police inquire before they

         24  arrest you.

         25                 MR. NESBITT:  Exactly.  I informed
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          2  them about the Operation Order 32, which gives us

          3  the right to be on the street--

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Where is it that

          5  you typically vend?

          6                 MR. NESBITT:  Really, all over the

          7  City.  This occurrence was at 86th and Columbus

          8  Avenue, which is a legal spot for me to be, and I

          9  was arrested, and--

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 MR. NESBITT:  Okay.

         13                 MR. BALMUTH:  Okay, my name is

         14  Mitchell Balmuth and since the last time I was here,

         15  I have been arrested twice also, basically, for

         16  questioning vending laws when police were telling me

         17  that I was in the wrong.  First thing I suggest,

         18  like other people have said, like Jack said, we need

         19  to have the police properly informed.  There has

         20  been two operation orders issued by Lieutenant

         21  Albano who was here today, who specifically said

         22  what First Amendment art is, how it is protected,

         23  and what we are allowed to do, how property is

         24  returned, vouchered, et cetera.  When you go to most

         25  precincts and speak to them, they have no idea what
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          2  you are talking about.

          3                 Now as far as police harassment goes,

          4  all of this talk about trademark infringement or

          5  changing the vending laws is not going to change

          6  police harassment.  Police harassment is caused by

          7  businesses making complaints and cops coming and

          8  feeling like they have to do something about it.

          9  Lieutenant D'Onofrio's first person for the Peddler

         10  Task Force was Lieutenant- who was the first,

         11  Johnson, oh, Laudith (phonetic), Laudith, who now is

         12  the head of the 5th Avenue Business Improvement

         13  District.  So, when he came after a 5th Avenue

         14  Business District made a phone call, his idea was to

         15  make sure that that vendor was gotten rid of, and it

         16  has happened to me with the 5th Avenue BID giving

         17  illegal summonses, and then later on when he retires

         18  he gets a nice big job.

         19                 So, I mean, they feel like they have

         20  to answer to businesses.  That is what causes most

         21  police harassment, whether it is Donald Trump who

         22  moved mailboxes to get rid of disabled vets, or what

         23  do you call it, the 5th Avenue BID, oh, the Times

         24  Square BID actually getting the most liberal

         25  democrat that I know in the State Senate to come
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          2  here and testify on their behalf.  Basically, I have

          3  been selling in Times Square with many of these nice

          4  disabled veteran here, and to be honest, I do not

          5  see the type of problem they are complaining about.

          6  The Operation Order 33, which says that police

          7  officers cannot enforce the vending codes against

          8  disabled vets, but then goes on and tells them they

          9  can arrest them for disorderly conduct.  Well, if a

         10  vendor is in a legal spot, with a legal setup, how

         11  can he be disorderly?  I have many instances with of

         12  other artists, art vendors just setting up in a

         13  legal spot and the police coming and writing a

         14  disorderly conduct summons.

         15                 Okay, I have a lot more suggestions

         16  if you want to listen.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Fortunately, we

         18  are out of time.  I gave you three minutes not two.

         19  So, you can give us about your testimony about your

         20  recommendations.

         21                 MR. BALMUTH:  Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We need to be out

         23  of here in a very few minutes, and I have some

         24  people to testify on the Internet cafes, so--

         25                 MR. BALMUTH:  I just have about one
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          2  minute left.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  No, Sir.  No, Sir.

          4                 MR. BALMUTH:  Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I appreciate, very

          6  much, your coming.  Thank you very much.  No, Sir.

          7  If you have a suggestion you can make it to the

          8  Sergeant at Arms.

          9                 We are going to try to respect the

         10  people that have come and been extremely patient on

         11  the issue of Internet cafes, and I want to ask at

         12  this time that Evan Galbraith, Chris Shin, and

         13  Josephine Beckman please come if they have testimony

         14  that they want to offer.

         15                 Somebody left their hat in the front

         16  here.

         17                 No, Sir.  This is the third hearing,

         18  Sir.  This is about the seventh hour of testimony we

         19  have taken on disabled vets, and disabled vets have

         20  met in my office at least two times.  If you have

         21  further testimony, you can provide it in writing to

         22  the Council, thank you.

         23                 Thank you very much, all of you, for

         24  your patience.  I will start with you, Ms. Beckmann.

         25                 MS. BECKMANN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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          2  My name is Josephine Beckmann, and I am President of

          3  the United Neighbors Association of Fort Hamilton

          4  Parkway.  We are a community organization that

          5  represents over 100 families in the Dyker Heights

          6  section of Brooklyn.  Residents who belong to my

          7  organization are very concerned about a Cyber Cafe

          8  that opened up just one block away from my home on

          9  Fort Hamilton Parkway.

         10                 The Cyber Cafe has been a location

         11  that has been very convenient for truancy.  It is a

         12  24 operation.  It is a street level store, and is

         13  located within five short blocks of three local

         14  schools.

         15                 Fort Hamilton Parkway is a street

         16  that is traveled by hundreds of junior high school

         17  and high school aged students.  There is a bus stop

         18  that students use to attend Fort Hamilton High

         19  School in front of the Cyber Cafe.

         20                 We have seen many fights that have

         21  taken place in front of the Cyber Cafe, some with

         22  baseball bats, young children as young as 10, 11,

         23  and 12 years old.  Unfortunately, this Cyber Cafe

         24  has also been the target of neighborhood drug

         25  dealers who try to get this market to try to start
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          2  using marijuana.

          3                 Adolescence can be seen in this

          4  establish at all hours of the day and night, and it

          5  has been the site of many fights.  Local parents who

          6  belong to my association are very concerned about

          7  truancy.  We have been working with our local

          8  precinct, Brooklyn South Narcotics, and we have

          9  tried to reach out to the owners of the cafe.  We

         10  believe that legislation regulating cyber cafes is

         11  needed for the safety of our City's young people.

         12                 I want to thank you, the Speaker,

         13  Gifford Miller, our local Councilman Gentile, who

         14  has come to several of our meetings to assist us,

         15  for taking a leadership role and introducing this

         16  legislation.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, and I

         18  want to thank you for being so concise, and

         19  appreciated your being at the press conference last

         20  week or the week before, thank you.

         21                 MS. BECKMANN:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes, Sir.

         23                 MR. GALBRAITH:  Hello.  My name is

         24  Evan Galbraith.  I am the owner of Cyber Cafe, not

         25  the one that you mentioned, but we are the oldest
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          2  Cyber Cafe in New York City. We began in 1995.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Where is it

          4  located?

          5                 MR. GALBRAITH:  We have two stores.

          6  We have one on 49th between Broadway and 8th, and

          7  the other one on 8th Avenue between 44th and 45th

          8  Street.  We used to have another one on Prince and

          9  Lafayette in SoHo, but we had to close that one

         10  after September 11th, unfortunately.

         11                 I think it is very important before

         12  we begin to, first of all, Cyber Cafe is a

         13  registered trademark.  We registered that name, I

         14  know it is being used generically, and prefer people

         15  to use the word Internet cafe, although, even today

         16  that is becoming very misleading as I will explain.

         17                 Basically, we believe there are four

         18  points that concern us; one, who in fact qualifies

         19  as an Internet cafe, two, the effects of pricing,

         20  three, the permissibility of young tourists versus

         21  local minors to these establishments, and four, the

         22  overall purpose of the law.

         23                 Number one, Internet cafes come in

         24  all shapes and sizes and attract different types of

         25  tourists and locals alike.  In fact, today the
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          2  phrase, Internet cafe, is rather misleading and

          3  quickly becoming outdated, especially since the

          4  proliferation of wireless access points.  You can

          5  walk into any national coffee chain now with your

          6  own laptop and get online.  You can go to a copy

          7  store like Kinkos and get online, they have

          8  computers there to.  You can even go to a barbershop

          9  and get online today while you are having your

         10  haircut.  As it stands, the proposed definition that

         11  is in writing appears to include virtually anywhere

         12  you can get online, regardless of whether or not

         13  they serve coffee or provide any other service.  So,

         14  my question is will this law, as it stands, prevent

         15  minors from going to an Internet- ready bookstore or

         16  grocery shop, even, that either has computers or

         17  uses a wireless connection?  And where do you draw

         18  the line?

         19                 The original term, Internet cafe, was

         20  a place that rented computers connected to the

         21  Internet in a serving cafe environment.  In other

         22  words, the cafe was an essential part of the

         23  atmosphere, not just an expression.  Over the years,

         24  Cyber Cafe helped define this concept and continues

         25  to promote the cafe atmosphere as a critical part of
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          2  its business, one- half of our store space is

          3  devoted to selling coffee.  Since Cyber Cafe is in

          4  fact a cafe with a full espresso bar, will this law

          5  also prevent minors from going to large national

          6  coffee chains or any cafe that provides access to

          7  the Internet?  And what about restaurants?  There

          8  are even national fast food chains that provide

          9  Internet access today.             Two, the effects

         10  of pricing.  We believe that it is very important to

         11  note that Internet cafes range dramatically in

         12  price, and we think this is where the problem lies,

         13  not with the Internet, but with the price--

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Can you wrap up

         15  your testimony, Sir.  You have about another minute.

         16                 MR. GALBRAITH:  Oh, sorry, yeah.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

         18                 MR. GALBRAITH:  So, we charge about

         19  $13 an hour, and as a result, we do not have minors

         20  at all coming to our location, but we do have young

         21  tourists, who are unaccompanied by parents and are

         22  often not on the same schedule because they are

         23  coming from all over the world, and young tourists

         24  are an important part of our business, not local

         25  minors.
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          2                 So, if I could just conclude, we

          3  disagree with this law as it stands, think it has to

          4  be rewritten, we think words like Internet cafe

          5  should be rewritten.  We understand that there may

          6  be some problems with particular locations, but

          7  there are problems with particular location like

          8  fast food stores and movie theaters.  You know, we

          9  do not think it has anything to do with the Internet

         10  at all.  You know, the internet is new, and granted

         11  there are many questions about a new industry, but

         12  as this law is written right now it is riddled with

         13  problems we believe, and we would appreciate it if

         14  we could contribute in the future to writing the

         15  law, if there is going to be one, because we do

         16  consider ourselves experts in this field, and we

         17  think we can help people understand what this all

         18  about really.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, thank you

         21  very much. I think you have made some very

         22  provocative comments, and I think that Council

         23  Member Liu, while even though he is not here and his

         24  is the author of this bill, certainly would

         25  appreciate knowing those, and I think we can look at
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          2  that, so we perhaps can incorporate that, his bill,

          3  along with Council Member Gioia's about looking at

          4  the cafes as arcades.  So, we will certainly want to

          5  get some input from you.

          6                 Sir, did you have some testimony?

          7  You are the last person to speak today.  You are

          8  with him.  That is even better.

          9                 Thank you all very much, but let us

         10  know do you have that- Council Member Gentile has a

         11  question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Just quickly

         13  for the record, and thank you, Mr. Chairman, for

         14  coming back to this issue so that we can get in this

         15  last minute testimony.

         16                 Two questions, one for Ms. Beckmann.

         17  Ms. Beckmann, you had been in that neighborhood

         18  prior to the establishment of these Internet cafes,

         19  and you said there are three or four different

         20  schools in that vicinity, so, obviously, children

         21  have been on that byway prior to the Internet cafes.

         22    How has it changed, you have children there all

         23  the time, what difference has it been since the

         24  Internet cafes have been there?

         25                 MS. BECKMANN:  Now since it has been
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          2  there large groups of children, both before and

          3  after school, congregate in front of the Cyber Cafe.

          4    A lot of children seem to just hang out there.  I

          5  mean very large groups 30, 40 at a time.  I think

          6  that the Cyber Cafe itself maybe can only

          7  accommodate 14 or 15 young people at different

          8  computer- game terminals, so then you have a lot of

          9  overcrowding inside of the cafe and it spills out

         10  outside of the cafe.  It impedes pedestrian traffic,

         11  and there have been a lot of fights.  In the past

         12  year, I think, the police have had to be called at

         13  least once a week to disperse fighting of young

         14  people in front of that cafe.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Great, and

         16  just to follow up on the Chairman's remarks to Mr.

         17  Galbraith.  Mr. Galbraith if the law had a

         18  definition of Internet cafes are those that promote

         19  network gaming, that would exclude your business?

         20                 MR. GALBRAITH:  Yes, that would be a

         21  step in the right direction.  In fact, that would

         22  have been my comment to- yeah, it is about gaming

         23  and it is about what you do. The Internet itself is,

         24  you know, like a bookstore or a library, you can get

         25  anything you like out of it.  It is what the store
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          2  decides to promote and how it is run that really

          3  matters.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I see, okay.

          5    Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Council

          7  member, and I appreciate your patience, sometimes

          8  the last is best. Thank you very much.  This hearing

          9  is adjourned.

         10                 (Hearing adjourned at 1:12 p.m.)

         11                 (The following testimony was read

         12  into the record.)

         13

         14  Testimony of:

             Badr A. Choudhury

         15  General Vendor

         16

         17

         18                 Ladies and Gentlemen:

         19                 My name is Badr A. Choudhury.  I

         20  applied for the General Vendor License in 1991 and

         21  received a letter from the NYC Consumer Affairs

         22  Department in the same year (July 1, 1991) informing

         23  me that even the waiting list was closed until

         24  further notice.  Since then, I have visited

         25  periodically with the Office of Consumer Affairs
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          2  many times with no success.  I also wrote to the

          3  Commissioner several times requesting her to help me

          4  in getting a license.

          5                 Being desperate, I even approached

          6  Council Member Mr. Phillip Reed (8th District) on

          7  December 2nd 2002, Council Member Mr. Alan Gerson on

          8  March 25th, 2003, and Mr. Eiller, the lawyer for the

          9  Department of Consumer Affairs, on April 7th, 2003.

         10  Nothing helped me in getting a General Vendor

         11  License for the last 13 years!

         12                 I would like to know from the

         13  Commissioner: What is the status of my application?

         14                 Thank you for listening to me.

         15                 Badr A. Choudhury

         16                 378 Tompkins Avenue, Apt. #2A

         17                 Brooklyn, NY 11216

         18                 Tel:  (718) 636- 3082

         19

         20  Testimony of:

             Joie Anderson

         21

         22

         23                 My name is Joie Anderson.  I live on

         24  the 300 Block of East 77th Street in Manhattan.  We

         25  have a block association and work very hard to keep
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          2  our block liveable.  It is a block of small non-

          3  doorman buildings, a few mom and pop service

          4  businesses, one restaurant, and one synagogue.

          5                 First and foremost, I do not want any

          6  of this legislation to pit one block against

          7  another.

          8                 It is zoned residential, and the size

          9  of our sidewalks are the narrow width of a

         10  residential side street. Yet, we have the vehicular

         11  and pedestrian traffic of a major cross- town

         12  thoroughfare.  We are an ambulance route to Lenox

         13  Hill Hospital as well as a direct passage to the No.

         14  6 Subway Station at 77th and Lexington Avenues.

         15                 To that end, 77th Street must not

         16  have street vendors on the north or south sides 7

         17  days a week, 24 hours per day:

         18                 We are an ambulance route, the reason

         19  always given by the DOT for not allowing the one

         20  restaurant on our block to set up sidewalk cafe

         21  tables;

         22                 we have 17 trees on our streets, each

         23  in a pit approximately 4' x 5';

         24                 Two of our buildings have front

         25  gardens;
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          2                 Two green mail storage boxes, three

          3  fire hydrants;

          4                 Three buildings with canopies that go

          5  right out to the curb;

          6                 Four lampposts;

          7                 John Jay Park- during the summer

          8  hoards of organized summer groups thunder down our

          9  street to use the pool.

         10                 All of this takes up desperately

         11  needed sidewalk space.  There is simply no room for

         12  vendors.  The street vendors must be restricted on

         13  both sides of 77th Street from Park Avenue to John

         14  Jay Park 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

         15                 Thank you.

         16

         17  Testimony of:

             Thelma Blitz

         18  Vendor

         19

         20

         21                 Vending and Law Enforcement

         22                 Twenty years of licensed vending has

         23  taught me this about law enforcement:  Good cops

         24  help out where there is trouble; Bad cops make

         25  trouble where there is none. Unfortunately, most of
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          2  the enforcement of the vending laws is of the kind

          3  that makes trouble where there is none.

          4                 There are many policemen who seem not

          5  to believe in the administrative code as the

          6  Department of Consumer Affairs tell us is our

          7   "bible".  "Don't show me that. I don't care what

          8  that says", one officer said to me as I was trying

          9  to point to a written law.  This is start of

         10  fascism, if it has not started already, when the

         11  policeman states that he is the law.

         12                  "The laws are only a guideline to

         13  keeping the peace", another told me, also refusing

         14  to enforce the laws as written.  But, somehow this

         15   "guideline" always favors the store merchant or the

         16  co- op resident who is unfairly complaining.  It

         17  never considers "the peace" of the vendor who must

         18  make his living.

         19                 I used to jokingly call it "creative

         20  law enforcement"  when a cop would make up a law to

         21  suit his need, but it is not always so funny.  I

         22  have been told, "No vending within five feet of a

         23  parking meter, no vending 20 feet from the

         24  projection of a doorway on a curb in either

         25  direction, no vending 15 feet from a fire hydrant,
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          2  that I may only have one table, that I must stand

          3  behind by table, I have no right to sit down."

          4  None of these laws are on the book, all are a

          5  policeman's invention.

          6                 I have faced a ticket (thrown out)

          7  for disorderly conduct when a cop could not think of

          8  a law I was breaking, and I have been told I had to

          9  leave a 12- foot pedestrian path when the law says 9

         10  feet.

         11                 I have called the cops myself when

         12  physically attacked by other vendors and been told,

         13   "We don't know what to call this, there are no laws

         14  protecting you guys".

         15                 True.  All the vendor laws are

         16  against vendors. In another instance, when a food

         17  cart was deliberately plowed into my table, I called

         18  a cop, and he began to enforce minor "Placement of

         19  vehicle" laws against me.  Incidents like these make

         20  us afraid to call the cops when there is trouble.

         21                 Much of law enforcement against

         22  vendors is harassment and a waste of the time and

         23  energy of the police. The vending laws are

         24  arbitrary.  In Japan all vending is done on cloth on

         25  the floor, a table is illegal.  In New York it is
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          2  illegal to sell on the surface of the sidewalk, it

          3  is supposedly a threat to public health safety and

          4  well being.

          5                 We would hope there would be an end

          6  to this harassment and the police would only come to

          7  help out when there is trouble.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 1:12 p.m.)
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